
 

City of Port Colborne 
Regular Meeting of Council 21-20 

Monday, August 24, 2020 – 6:30 p.m. 
Council Chambers, 3rd Floor, 66 Charlotte Street 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 

Notice: Council will meet through electronic participation in accordance with Bill 137, the 
Municipal Emergency Act in order to keep the health and safety of our community as a 
priority. If you wish to provide public comments regarding an item on the agenda please 
submit to deputyclerk@portcolborne.ca by noon on Monday, August 24, 2020. 
 
Watch the Council Meeting streaming live on our YouTube Channel. 

 
1. Call to Order:  Deputy Mayor Mark Bagu 

 
2. Introduction of Addendum Items 

 
3. Confirmation of Agenda: 

 
4. Disclosures of Interest: 

 
5. Adoption of Minutes: 

(a) Regular meeting of Council 20-20, held on August 10, 2020 
 

6. Determination of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 
 

7. Approval of Items Not Requiring Separate Discussion: 
 

8. Delegations/Presentations: 

(a) Presentation: Paul Blais, MDB Insight Inc. and Jim Burkitt, Gow Hastings 
Architects Re: Port Colborne Innovation, Creativity and Culinary Incubator 
Feasibility Study   (Page No. 11)  
 

9. Consideration of Items Requiring Separate Discussion: 
 

10. Proclamations: 
Nil. 

 
11. Minutes of Boards, Commissions & Committees: 

(a) Minutes of the Environmental Advisory Committee meeting of March 11, 2020 
(b) Minutes of the Grant Policy Committee of March 5, 2020 

1

https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofportcolborne


Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

 
12.    Councillors’ Items: 

(a) Staff Responses to Previous Councillors’ Enquiries 
(b) Councillors’ Issues/Enquiries 

 
13. Consideration of By-laws: 

 
14.      Adjournment:  

2



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

Council Items: 
 

Notes Item Description / Recommendation Page 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

1. Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum, Report 2020-113, 
Subject: Museum Annual Report 2019, Museum/Archives Services 
during the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic                         
 
That Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum Report No. 2020-
113, Subject: Museum Annual Report 2019, Museum/Archives 
Services during the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic, be 
received for information. 
 
Note: Stephanie Powell Baswick, Director/Curator will be providing a   
verbal presentation with regard to the above report. 
 

25 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

2. Planning and Development Department, Report 2020-103, Subject: 
Department of Planning and Development Annual Report                
 
That Planning and Development Department, Report No. 2020-103, 
Subject: Department of Planning and Development 2020 Annual 
Report, be received for information. 
 
 

43 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

3. Office of the Chief Administrative Officer, Economic Development 
Division, Report 2020-111, Subject: Recommended Consultant for 
the Completion of the Port Colborne Tourism Strategic Plan and 
Cruise Destination Business Case                                                       

That Chief Administrative Officer, Economic Development Division, 
Report 2020-111 be received;  

That the Mayor and Clerk be authorized to enter into an agreement with 
KWL Advisory Inc. to complete the Port Colborne Tourism Strategic Plan 
and Cruise Destination Business Case at a total cost of $54,975 
(including HST); and 

That a by-law to enter into an agreement with KWL Advisory Inc., be 
brought forward. 

51 

  

3



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

4. Corporate Services Department, Financial Services Division, 
Report 2020-114, Subject: Investment Policy                                      
 

That Corporate Services Department, Financial Services Division, 
Report No. 2020-114, Subject: Investment Policy, be received; and  
 
That Council for The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne approve 
the Investment Policy attached as Appendix A. 
 

119 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

5. Corporate Services Department, Financial Services Division, 
Report 2020-116, Subject: Capital and Related Projects Update       
 

That Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne approve 
the adjustments identified in Appendix A to the Capital and Related 
Projects Budget.     

133 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

6. Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement 
Division, Report 2020-105, Subject: Parking and Traffic – West 
Street                                                                                                      
 

That the Council of the City of Port Colborne approve the following 
amendment to By-law No. 89-2000 being a By-law regulating traffic and 
parking on City roads: 

 
1. That Schedule “E” Limited Parking Restrictions, to By-law 89-

2000 as amended, be amended by deleting therefrom the 
following: 

 
Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 

 

Highway Side From To Times/Days Maximum 

West 
Street 

East Clarence 
St. 

Charlotte 
St. 

9:00 a.m. to 
6:00 p.m.  
Mon to Sat 

2 hours 

 
2. That Schedule “E” Limited Parking Restrictions, to By-law 89-

2000 as amended, be amended by adding thereto the following: 
 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 
 

Highway Side From To Times/Days Maximum 

West 
Street 

East Clarence 
St. 

Charlotte 
St. 

8:00 a.m. to 
10:00 p.m.  
Mon to Sun 

2 hours 

 
 

143 

4



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

7. Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement 
Division, Report 2020-106, Subject: Fence Variance – 128 McCain 
Street                                                                                                      
 

That Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement 
Division, Report 2020-106, Subject: Fence Variance – 128 McCain 
Street, be received for information; and 
 
That the fence variance request for 128 McCain Street not be approved, 
and that the property be brought into compliance with the Fence By-law. 
 

149 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

8. Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement 
Division, Report 2020-108, Subject: Parking and Traffic – 
Wyldewood Road                                                                                   
 

That Council approve the following recommended measures in order to 
alleviate the parking issues on Wyldewood Road: 

 Reduce the speed limit. 

 Reduce the size of the angle parking permitted in this area. 

 Implement prohibition of parking and tow away zones. 

 Implement on-street permit parking for the residential cottage 
area. 

That Schedule ‘W’ Speed Limits to By-law 89-2000, as amended be further 
amended to delete the following therefrom: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 

Highway From To Max. Speed 

Wyldewood Road Hwy #3 South to Lake 
Erie 

60 

 
That Schedule ‘W’ Speed Limits to By-law 89-2000, as amended be further 
amended by adding thereto the following: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 

Highway From To Max. Speed 

Wyldewood Road Hwy #3 720m north of the 
Termination of 
the dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 
(Centre line of 
Michael Drain) 

60 

Wyldewood Road Termination 
of the dead 
end of 
Wyldewood 
Road at Lake 
Erie 

720m north 
therefrom   
(Centre line of 
Michael Drain) 

40 

155 

5



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

That Schedule ‘C2’ Parking Prohibitions Tow Away Zone to By-law 89-2000, 
as amended be further amended by adding thereto the following: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

Highway Side From To Times/Day 

Wyldewood 
Road 

West Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

180m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

Wyldewood 
Road 

West 192m north of the 
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

528m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

Wyldewood 
Road 

East Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

186m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

Wyldewood 
Road 

East 211m north of the 
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

48m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

Wyldewood 
Road 

East 305m north of the 
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

415m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

 
That Schedule ‘F’ Angle Parking to By-law 89-2000, as amended be further 
amended to delete the following therefrom: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 

Highway Side From To 

Wyldewood Road West A point 420m south 
of the centre line of 
the Michael Drain 

A point 144m 
South 

Wyldewood Road East A point 439m south 
of the centre line of 
the Michael Drain 

A point 125m 
South 

 
That Schedule ‘F’ Angle Parking to By-law 89-2000, as amended be further 
amended by adding the following thereto: 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 

Highway Side From To 

Wyldewood Road West 180m north of the 
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

12m north 
therefrom 

6



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

Wyldewood Road East 186m north of the   
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

25m north 
therefrom  

Wyldewood Road East 259m north of the   
Termination of the 
dead end of 
Wyldewood Road 
at Lake Erie 

46m north 
therefrom  

 
That Schedule ‘A’ On-Street Permit Parking to By-law 6116/82/14 be amended 
by adding the following thereto: 
 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Colum 4 

Highway Side From To Times/days 

Wyldewood Road East 259m north 
of the 
Termination 
of the dead 
end of 
Wyldewood 
Road at 
Lake Erie 

12m north 
therefrom 

Anytime 

 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

9. Engineering and Operations Department, Engineering Division, 
Report 2020-109, Subject: REVISED – Request for Traffic Safety 
Review – Intersection of Bell Street and Fares Street                         
 

That Council direct staff to install three new amber lights, increase the 
size of the “Stop” signs, add new “Intersection Ahead” and “Stop Ahead” 
signs, and relocate the Canada Post mailbox, with the estimated 
$15,000 cost to be funded from existing roads maintenance accounts, 
and to work with the By-law Department to implement prohibited parking 
limits further from the intersection. 
 

161 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

10 Planning and Development Department, Report 2020-110, Subject: 
Sale of Vacant Land, Part Lot 26, Concession 2                                  

That Council declares Part Lot 26, Concession 2 as surplus to the City’s 
needs; 

That the City enters into an Agreement of Purchase and Sale with Denny 
Brochu and Amelia Wade for the purchase price of $6,500 (plus HST), 
attached hereto as Appendix A. 
 
That the Mayor, Clerk and City Solicitor be authorized to sign and 
execute any and all documents respecting the sale of these lands. 

167 

7



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

11 Department of Chief Administrative Officer, Report 2020-117, 
Subject: COVID-19 Update #5                                                               
 
That Chief Administrative Officer, Report No. 2020-117, Subject: 
COVID-19 Update #5, be received for information. 
 

175 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

12 Memorandum from Councillor Bodner Regarding Site Alteration 
By-law Moratorium Request                                                                   
 
That the Site Alteration By-law be amended to halt the intake of new 
applications to import fill from outside of Port Colborne until such time 
as the City has passed a new Site Alteration By-law of January 31, 2021 
– whichever comes first. 
 

179 

Miscellaneous Correspondence 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

13 Region of Niagara Re: Signing of the AMO-Ontario Federation of 
Indigenous Friendship Centres – Declaration of Mutual 
Commitment and Friendship with Niagara Region And Friendship 
Centre Support                                                                                       
 
That the correspondence received from the Region of Niagara Re: 
Signing of the AMO-Ontario Federation of Indigenous Friendship 
Centres – Declaration of Mutual Commitment and Friendship with 
Niagara Region And Friendship Centre Support, be received for 
information. 
  

181 

Outside Resolutions – Requests for Endorsement 

WCS 
 
RB 
 
AD 

MB 
 
GB 
 
DK 

EB 
 
FD 
 
HW 

14 City of St. Catharines Re: Long Term Care Homes                              
 
That the resolution received from the City of St. Catharines Re: Long 
Term Care Homes, be received for information. 

187 

Responses to City of Port Colborne Resolutions 

  Nil. 

8



Council Agenda  August 24, 2020 

Consideration of By-laws 
(Council Agenda Item 11) 

 
 

By-law No. Title 

6810/60/20 Being a By-Law to Amend By-Law No. 89-2000,Being a By-Law 
Regulating Traffic and Parking on West Street 

6811/61/20 Being a By-Law to Amend By-Law No. 89-2000, Being a By-Law 
Regulating Traffic and Parking on Wyldewood Road  

6812/62/60 Being a By-law to Amend By-law No. 6116/82/14, Being a By-law to 
Establish a Permitting System for the Parking of Vehicles on Designated 
Highways within the City of Port Colborne 

6813/63/20 Being a By-law to Authorize Entering into an Agreement of Purchase 
and Sale with Denny Brochu and Amelia Wade respecting Part Lot 26, 
Concession 2 

6814/64/20 Being a By-law to Authorize Entering into a Lease Agreement with Big 
Pappi’s 

6815/65/20 Being a By-law to Authorize Entering into a Lease Agreement with 
Splashtown Niagara 

6816/66/20 Being a By-law to Adopt, Ratify and Confirm the Proceedings of the 
Council of The Corporation of the City of Port Colborne at its Regular 
Meeting of August 24, 2020 

 
 
 
 

 
 

9



10



2020‐08‐18

1

OVERVIEW

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 2

This feasibility study was developed to determine the need, interest and capacity of an 
Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator. For this study, need, interest and capacity 
were defined as follows:

 Is there a need? Does the community need this service? Is there demand from the 
business community for business support services? 

 Is there interest? Would businesses, community partners and the community at large 
be interested in getting involved with the proposed incubator? 

 Is there capacity? Is the Roselawn Centre an appropriate location for the incubator? 
What is the cost of renovating the facility? Is there enough space for prospective 
demand? 

11



2020‐08‐18

2

IS THERE NEED?

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 3

IS THERE INTEREST?

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 4

12



2020‐08‐18

3

IS THERE CAPACITY?

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 5

A PREVIEW OF THE POTENTIAL INCUBATOR 

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 6

13



2020‐08‐18

4

IMPLICATIONS OF COVID‐19

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 7

The proposed incubator would provide cost‐effective access to resources, 
knowledge, and networks that help entrepreneurs get through the initial obstacles in 
starting and growing their business. 

This is an impactful service for businesses during the anticipated economic recovery 
stage of this pandemic.  

A catalyst for innovation, 
an essential element in the 

new economy 

Capitalize on potential desire 
for entrepreneurs to migrate 

to smaller communities

A new Roselawn 
Centre built for the 

“new normal”

FINAL RECOMMENDATION

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 8

The outcomes of this study suggest that there is an interest and a need for an 
incubator focused on culinary and innovation programs. It is recommended to not 
pursue a focus on the creativity sector. 

Existing base of 
business activity

Existing base of 
business activity

Existing support 
organizations interested in 
supporting this incubator

Despite the well‐documented historical challenges, the Roselawn Centre holds 
promise and has the capacity to serve the proposed incubator based on the site 
evaluation by Gow Hastings and the new development plan. 

14



2020‐08‐18

5

Contact:
Paul Blais, MA, Ec.D., CEcD
Executive Vice-President
T: 1.855.367.3535  ext. 241
E: pblais@mdbinsight.com

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 10

 Methodology
 About Business Incubation
 Innovation Landscape in the Niagara Region
 Engagement

o Stakeholder Interviews/Info. Session
o Business Survey
o Priority Matrix

 Site Evaluation
 Preview of The Potential Incubator 
 Risk Assessment

15



2020‐08‐18

6

METHODOLOGY

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 11

To answer the questions related to need, interest and capacity, a holistic approach 
consisting of primary and secondary research was implemented. The following activities 
were conducted: 

Baseline research Semi‐Structured 
interviews

Stakeholder 
information session 
at Roselawn Centre

Site evaluation and 
operational 
requirements

Online business 
survey

Recommendation 
Matrix 

ABOUT BUSINESS INCUBATION

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 12

Business incubator provide a value‐added “intervention system” to tenant companies, 
which consists of a range of services to small businesses which are designed to nurture 
and develop them into successful enterprises over a defined period. Possible outcomes 
include:

Job creation

Technology commercialization

New business formation

Wealth creation

Tax revenue generation

Neighborhood revitalization

Economic diversification

Community development

Industry cluster/sector development

Empowering minorities

16



2020‐08‐18

7

INNOVATION LANDSCAPE IN THE NIAGARA REGION

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 13

BESS

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary 
Incubator Feasibility Study

14

17



2020‐08‐18

8

ENGAGEMENT: STAKEHOLDER INTERVIEWS/INFO. SESSION

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 15

30 phone interviews were conducted with local and regional stakeholders. Many of 
these interviewees plus elected officials and management from the City, made up the 
20+ attendees at an information session/workshop held in the Roselawn Centre. 
These stakeholders represented private business, business innovation and support 
services, workforce development organizations, economic development services and 
educational institutions. Four main themes of importance were identified: 

Nature of the 
incubator

Market
potential

Challenges and 
barriers

Support for the 
initiative

ENGAGEMENT: BUSINESS SURVEY

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 16

A survey was delivered to understand the potential demand for a business incubator 
in Port Colborne and the services and programs that would benefit entrepreneurs. 18 
businesses responded to the survey. Some of the key findings include:

33%
Of respondents are start‐ups 
(less than one year of operation)

47%
of the responded classified their 
business as food and beverage 
production/food services

28%
of respondents said they would use a 
co‐working space occasionally 
(occasional daily use, as needed)

22%
of respondents said they would 
use the space regularly (regular 
ongoing use, extended period)

18



2020‐08‐18

9

ENGAGEMENT: PRIORITY MATRIX

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 17

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary 
Incubator Feasibility Study

18

19



2020‐08‐18

10

SITE EVALUATION AND OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study
19

After a request for quotation process and active outreach initiative Gow Hastings 
Architects (Gow) was chosen for the site evaluation based on their technical skills 
experience working on relevant projects in the Niagara Region. 

Evaluate Current 
Structure/floor plan 
of Roselawn Centre

Mandatory 
Modernization 
Requirements 

Consideration of 
Historical Building 

Modification 
Limitations 

Overall Approval of 
Site for Proposed 

Incubator

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary 
Incubator Feasibility Study

20

20



2020‐08‐18

11

PHASED APPROACH TO TRANSFORM ROSELAWN CENTRE

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 21

To make the most of 
the space, Gow has 
designed a four‐phased 
approach to renovating 
the Roselawn Centre, 
which considers the 
basement, main floor 
and second floor 
(Furniture costs only).

Phase 1 – Basement 

PHASED APPROACH TO TRANSFORM ROSELAWN CENTRE

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 22

Phase 1 – Main Floor
Cost = $376,725  

Phase 2 ‐Main Floor
Cost = $840,500 

21



2020‐08‐18

12

PHASED APPROACH TO TRANSFORM ROSELAWN CENTRE

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 23

Phase 3 – Main Floor
Cost = $316,025  

Phase 4 – Main Floor
Cost = $453,440 

PHASED APPROACH TO TRANSFORM ROSELAWN CENTRE

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 24

22



2020‐08‐18

13

EXTERIOR RENDERING

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 25

The exterior render provides a view of the new 
deck addition and dining room from the eastern 
Roselawn garden. 

This new deck addition is intended to connect 
the beautiful eastern garden with the incubator 
portion of the Roselawn Centre. 

INTERIOR RENDERING

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 26

The interior rendering provides 

a view toward the incubator 

kitchen from the original dining 

room featuring the chef’s table. 

The space is outfitted with 

modern, flexible furniture 

solutions on wheels equipped 

to not only function as a 

renewed event/dining space 

but also to support hotdesking 

for the innovation side of the 

incubator.

23



2020‐08‐18

14

RISK ASSESSMENT

City of Port Colborne ‐ Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator Feasibility Study 27

The ability to identify and respond to risks is an expected process for all business 
incubators and accelerators. Situations may arise that were not apparent at an 
earlier time. Nonetheless, some considerations can be anticipated as potential 
threats and dealt with or planned for proactively. 

Potential Challenges:
• Seed Funding
• Occupancy 
• Financial Break‐Even 
• Graduates Leave Area 
• Community Support
• Shortages of Time/Capacity 

24



 
   
 Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum 
  
 

Report Number: 2020-113  Date: August 24, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Museum Annual Report 2019, Museum/Archives Services during the 
Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic 

1) PURPOSE 

Chief Administrative Officer, Scott Luey, approved the Director/Curator to present the 
2019 Annual Report for the Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum, as well as 
offer comments on Museum/Archives Services during the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-
19).  

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

The Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum was established by a Council By-law 
in 1974. Port Colborne City Council appoints a Board of Directors to act on behalf of 
Council to provide oversight to Museum staff who are supervised by the Museum 
Director/Curator. 
 
Museum activities are governed by the policies and procedures in accordance with the 
Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport’s Standards for Community Museums in 
Ontario including the following 10 standards: 
 

 Governance Standard  
 Finance Standard 
 Collections Standard 
 Exhibition Standard 
 Interpretation and Education Standard 
 Research Standard 
 Conservation Standard 
 Physical Plant Standard 
 Community Standard 
 Human Resources Standard 

 
The province has a fundamental commitment to the preservation, presentation and 
sustainability of the material culture of Ontario, through the community museums of the 
province. Museums that achieve these standards are eligible to receive Community 
Museum Operating Grant (CMOG) funding annually. The Port Colborne Historical and 
Marine Board of Management and staff consistently uphold these standards in an effort 
and obtain this funding.  

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

The 2019 season saw over 16,000 visitors to the Museum grounds from May to 
December 2019. The 2019 schedule of activities and exhibitions are in keeping with the 
goals and objectives outlined in the 2018-2022 Strategic Plan including our number one 
goal: To serve and preserve through annual events, collections management and 

25



Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum, Report No.: 2020-113 Page 2 of 4 
 

outreach.  

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  

a) Do Nothing  

Not applicable. 

b)  Other Options  

Not applicable. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 
 
The Chief Administrative Officer, Scott Luey, lead the strategic planning session of the 
Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum Board of Management and the plan was 
approved in 2018. The following five goals resulted: 
 
Goal #1 – Serve and Preserve 
 
Objective 1.1 – Annual Events  
Museum staff to maintain and grow the three annual events (Christmas, Canal Days, 
and Pie Social) that the museum currently offers. 
 
Objective 1.2 – Collections Management  
Museum staff will continue to adhere to the Museum’s Collection Management Policy. 
 
Objective 1.3 – Outreach  
Museum staff will explore new outreach opportunities to raise the profile of the museum 
in Port Colborne and beyond. 
 
Goal #2 – Increase Financial Contributions 
 
Objective 2.1 – Donor Recognition  
Staff to explore improvements to the donor recognition program to broaden the 
recognition of donors and make donating to the museum more attractive to potential 
donors. 
 
Objective 2.2 – Online Donation Module   
Staff to work towards creating a tool that allows donations to be made online and the 
sale of memberships to be conducted online. 
 
Objective 2.3 – Increase Memberships  
Staff to formulate a plan to conduct a membership drive designed to increase 
membership sales. 
 
Goal #3 – Improve Visitor Experience 
 
Objective 3.1 – Staff Interaction  
Museum staff to transition to improved customer service standards by providing a 
trained staff person as the first point of contact in an interaction with museum visitors. 

26



Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum, Report No.: 2020-113 Page 3 of 4 
 

 
Objective 3.2 – Operating Hours  
Staff are to analyze the operating hours and season of the museum and report any 
potential improved operating schedules to the board for approval. 
 
Objective 3.3 – Training Program  
Museum staff to develop a training program for staff and volunteers to ensure that both 
groups have adequate training to provide the best visitor experience. 
 
Goal #4 – Building Maintenance 
 
Objective 4.1 – Building Assessments  
Museum staff to work together with City Staff to conduct an assessment on all museum 
buildings and report results to the board. 
 
Objective 4.2 – Building Master Plan  
Museum staff to conduct a building plan for current and future buildings and present to 
the board. 
 
Goal #5 – Increase Engagement on Social Media 
 
Objective 5.1 – Board Reporting 
Museum staff to prepare regular reports to the board with respect to social media 
activity including metrics. 
 
Objective 5.2 – Collaboration with City Communications Staff 
Museum staff to actively work with City Communications Officer to develop policies and 
carry out social media activities. 
 
6)  ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A – 2019 Annual Report 
 
7)  RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum Report No. 2020-113, Subject: 
Museum Annual Report 2019, Museum/Archives Services during the Novel Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) Pandemic, be received for information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum, Report No.: 2020-113 Page 4 of 4 
 

8)  SIGNATURES 
 
Prepared on August 13, 2020  by: 

 
 
Stephanie Powell Baswick 
Director/Curator 
 

Reviewed and respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
 
 
 
C. Scott Luey 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

28



PRESERVE
More Than a Museum
PORT COLBORNE HISTORICAL AND MARINE MUSEUM

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

Report 2020-113
Appendix A 29



This image, one of many used in the museum’s 
exhibit from an album donated by Sam Walker, 
depicts John Napoleon Falls gazebo on Tennessee 
Avenue, Port Colborne in the 1890s.

-2- -3-

“WE ENVISION A MUSEUM THAT SERVES 

OUR COMMUNITY AND PRESERVES THE 

HISTORY AND MARINE HERITAGE OF 

PORT COLBORNE AND HUMBERSTONE”
PORT COLBORNE HISTORICAL AND MARINE MUSEUM VISION STATEMENT

30



-4- -5-

The 2019 feature exhibition Solid Comfort: Tales of Tennessee, the History of the 
Humberstone Summer Resort Company provides an opportunity to share with you 
the multi-faceted approach the museum is taking to serve the community and 
meet visitor expectations. The exhibit was designed to allow guests to experience 
the fascinating history of the exclusive company through the artifacts and 
archives on display in the gallery. To complement the exhibition, outreach and 
programming initiatives were added including: guided tours of the exhibit, off-site 
tours of Tennessee Ave, free public lectures, and lectures to museum colleagues 
and academics. A group of descendants from the resort’s founding family 
travelled internationally to experience the tours, exhibit and lectures, proving that 
heritage tourism is alive and well in our community.
Visitors from down the street or over the river will find the same thing when 
they arrive—a group of remarkable, committed volunteers in every corner of 
the heritage village. During events you will find smiling, informed volunteers 
serving Edwardian tea, performing heritage demonstrations, greeting at gates and 
answering questions about the exhibits. That is just the part you see! Our team 
of volunteers repair buildings, catalogue the collection, guide our policies, raise 
funds and embody the museum’s motto, “To Serve and Preserve”. We are grateful 
for their dedication.
In 2020 you can expect to join us in celebration of the 150th Anniversary of when 
Port Colborne formally became a village, with a lantern tour of the village, new 
activities during Arabella’s Pie Social and Canal Days, and the feature exhibit 
A Village by the Canal. Explore the interesting history of daily life, skills and 
traditions that were characteristic of a small village from 1870-1918.
Remembering our past, celebrating our present and looking forward to our 
future.
Sincerely,

Terry Huffman 

Chairman of the Board of Management 
Port Colborne Historical and Marine Museum

Visitors from Tennessee arrive at Solid Comfort 
flag train station to enjoy the cool breeze of Lake 
Erie and the shade of the Carolinian forest.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

31



-6- -7-

2019 BY THE NUMBERS

16 108 
TOTAL VISITORS

12 
STRUCTURES

HERITAGE VILLAGE & MARINE PARK

18 
TYPES OF 

RESEARCH  
DOCUMENTS
AT THE HERITAGE 

RESEARCH ARCHIVES

19 
MARKETING  

TOOLS   
PRODUCED

17 
MUSEUM  

PUBLICATIONS  
FOR 

RESEARCH 
AND 
 SALE

689 
COMMUNITY MEMBERS 

SERVED BY EDUCATIONAL  
PROGRAMS

4 783 
PARTICIPANTS IN SPECIAL EVENTS13 

MUSEUM SERVICES PROVIDED

19 083 
ARTIFACTS IN  
PERMANENT  
COLLECTION

1 231
ARTIFACTS  

ON DISPLAY

551
ARTIFACTS  
DONATED

BY

26
GENEROUS 

DONORS

486 
MUSEUM 

MEMBERS

31 
NEWS MEDIA 

MENTIONS
5 

TELEVISION  
INTERVIEWS

1 180 
INSTAGRAM
FOLLOWERS

2 141 
FACEBOOK 

FOLLOWERS

2387
UNIQUE PAGEVIEWS  

TO WEBSITE

657 
TWITTER FOLLOWERS

4
EXHIBITS

IN MAIN MUSEUM GALLERY

59
PHOTO SHOOTS

11
EXHIBITS 

PRESENTED

2
ONLINE 

EXHIBITS

211 
HARD-WORKING  

VOLUNTEERS

13 
DEDICATED STAFF

2 FULL TIME 
6 PART TIME  

5 SUMMER STUDENT STAFF

32



-8- -9-

                                      
ADMISSIONS
 School Tours: 212

 Donation Box: 884

 Canal Days: 4000

 Arabella’s Kids: 60     

           Northland Pointe: 110

 Christmas:  0    

           Group Tours/ Bus Tours: 264

TOTAL ADMISSIONS: 5530

Memberships: 631

Fundraising: 9761

SPECIAL EVENTS

 Pie Social: 295

Canal Days: 4170

 Christmas Festival: 1415

TOTAL SPECIAL EVENTS: 7 443

Donations: 3 703

Rent (Archives Rental Hall): 6 754

Gift Shop Sales: 7 151

Photocopies/Photos/Research 
(Archives): 1400

Auxiliary Donations: 12 000

2019 FINANCIALS

          GRANTS
Community Operating Grant 

(Pay Equity Included): 
 

24 093

Young Canada Works 10 015

Canada Summer Jobs 3 770

TOTAL GRANT REVENUE: 37 878 

2019 FAMILY

MUSEUM VISITORS
Daily Museum: 2 891

Tea Room: 2 490

Heritage Research Archives: 5158

School Tours (8): 228

Group/Bus Tours (18): 226

Education and Outreach*: 5 056

Weddings/Photography Bookings: 59

TOTAL VISITORS 16108

*Walking Tours (152), Northland Pointe 
Outreach (69), Member’s Reception 

(85), Pie Social (282), Arabella’s Kids 
(5), Canal Days (4072), Grand Old 

Christmas Festival (311), Conservation 
(9), Christmas Party Volunteer 

Appreciation (80) 

MUSEUM MEMBERS                 

Year 2019 Members: 155

Life Members: 286

Corporate Sustaining: 45   

TOTAL MEMBERS: 486

VOLUNTEERS                   

Weekly Volunteers: 12

Special Event Volunteers: 168

Tea Room Volunteers: 31

TOTAL VOLUNTEERS: 211

 
The Thomas family enjoys the Lock 8 Race game during the annual 
Canal Days Marine Heritage Festival on the museum grounds.

MUSEUM-RAISED REVENUE  

33



-10- -11-

BOARD MEMBERS

2018 CITIZEN APPOINTEES:
Bonnie Johnston (1981)
Marcia Turner (1995) 

Cheryl MacMillan (2001) 

Brian Heaslip (2009) 

Terry Huffman (2009) 

Pamela Koudijs (2013) 

Margaret Tanaszi (2015) 

Alexander Fazzari (2015) 

Donna Abbott (2017) 

Claudia Brema (2018) 

Bert Murphy (2018) 

Jeff Piniak (2019)

COUNCIL APPOINTEE:
Eric Beauregard (2019)

ASSOCIATE MEMBER:
Tom Lannan (2009)

STAFF

FULL TIME:
Director/Curator: Stephanie Powell Baswick
Assistant Curator: Michelle Mason

PART TIME:
Archivist: Michelle Vosburgh
Archives Assistant: Kyle Harrietha/Abbey Stansfield
Custodian/Maintenance: Frank Habjan
Education Programmer: Abbey Stansfield
Weekend Receptionist: Sherry Spark
Registrar: Michelle Vosburgh
Administrative Assistant: Amanda Emery

SUMMER STUDENTS:
Tea Room Assistants: Hannah Charuk, Vittoria Seca 
Heritage Tourism Officer: Quintin Keddy  
(Canada Summer Jobs)
Digitization Assistant: Spencer Alder  
(Canada Summer Jobs)
Heritage Research Assistant: Meaghan Chamberlain 
(Young Canada Works)
Curatorial Research Assistant: Dario Smagata-Bryan 
(Young Canada Works)
Museum Artifact Assistant: Katelyn Lewis  
(Co-op student, Lakeshore Catholic High School)

“HAVING STAFF EXPLAIN SO MUCH TO US—AND WITH SO 
MUCH KNOWLEDGE AND INTEREST—REALLY MADE THE VISIT 
ENJOYABLE!”
JESSICA SPEAR Group tour operator

Heritage Tourism Officer Quintin Keddy, a summer 
student funded by the federal Canada Summer Jobs 
grant, demonstrates heritage printing to a class of grade 
four students during the Pioneer Program. 

34



 
Solid Comfort: Tales of Tennessee: This exhibit shares the fascinating 
history of the exclusive “Solid Comfort” summer cottage community 
through photographs and artifacts from the museum’s collection.

-12- -13-

EXHIBITS

ON-SITE EXHIBITS:

Solid Comfort: Tales of Tennessee: 
What does Port Colborne have in common with 
Tennessee? Visit this new exhibit as the fascinating 
history of the exclusive “Solid Comfort” 
summer cottage community is revealed through 
photographs and artifacts from the museum’s 
collection.

Deadly Dust-Dominion: Grain Elevator 
Explosion, 1919:  
Located at the southern terminus of the Welland 
Canal, the grain elevator played an important role 
in the movement of grain through the Great Lakes. 
This exhibit not only examines this role, but also 
the tragic fatal explosion that occurred 100 years 
ago.

Tugging Along: Tugboats on the Welland Canal: 
Narrow channels, small canal locks, and lots of 
ship traffic on the third Welland Canal meant 
plenty of business for the tugs and their crews. 
Peer into the Marine Exhibit Lighthouse to catch a 
glimpse of this vital part of the canal scene.

Black & White Christmas 
Breaking from the traditional colours of the 
holidays, this exhibit showcases black & white 
artifacts from the museum’s collection. This chic, 
unique, elegant, and versatile Christmas display is 
all about style.

Permanent 
The Welland Canal:
Using an interactive touch screen display and 
dozens of archives and photographs, this new, 
permanent exhibit looks at the people that built 
the canal, the economic impact of the canal, and its 
role in shaping the community. 

TRAVELLING EXHIBITS 
FROM MUSEUM

CITY HALL EXHIBITS 
Celebrating Canada: 
This exhibit features the initiatives and logos from Canada’s 
Centennial in 1967 as well as the sesquicentennial in 2017. 
Also included are images and artifacts from our nation’s 
anniversaries. 

Port Colborne- The Welland Canal: 
The canal is a defining landmark that bisects the city of 
Port Colborne and continues to be an integral part of its 
economy and tourism. This retrospective exhibit looks at 
the changes from the first to the fourth Welland Canal.

ON-LINE EXHIBITS:

www.1812history.com:

From 1812 to 1815, the inhabitants of what was to become 
Canada fought side by side with the British forces and 
their First Nation allies to defend their lands against the 
Americans. The battles were waged on land and sea on both 
sides of the border. The impact of the war was felt by all. 
This website is dedicated to making the surviving records 
and artifacts from this time period available to everyone. 
There is much to discover about the War of 1812 era.

portcolborne.ca/page/Half_A_Century_Pictures_Two:
Photographs of ships that have travelled through Port 
Colborne, using the Canal and locks, to reach the Great 
Lakes. Each of these photographs are from the museum’s 
collections and were released to the public in 2009 for the 
50th Anniversary of the St. Lawrence Seaway Management 
Corporation. They’re a tribute to the Welland Canal which 
has given so much to this community. 

2019 HIGHLIGHTS

““MY FAVOURITE PART ABOUT 
THE MUSEUM IS THAT THERE 
ARE SO MANY BUILDINGS TO 
EXPLORE, THE BLACKSMITH 
SHOP, THE PIONEER HOUSE 
AND THE BOAT. I BRING MY 
NEPHEW EVERY SUMMER TO 
SEE THE NEW EXHIBIT” 
CLAIRE JENNINGS Retired teacher

35

http://images.ourontario.ca/1812/results?&fz=0&q=1812&rows=20&site=Port%20Colborne%20Historical%20and%20Marine%20Museum&sort=dateSort+desc&v=t
http://portcolborne.ca/page/Half_A_Century_Pictures_Two


-14- -15-

FEBRUARY
02.12 Northland Pointe: The History of Valentine’s 
 Day and Sending Messages
02.22 Heritage Day Open House
02.26 Evergreen Academy

APRIL
04.09 MONA meeting: Dealing with Race and 
 Class in a Walking Tour of the Humberstone 
 Summer Resort Company and Tennessee 
 Avenue: Drawing on New Approaches to the 
 American Civil War, and the “Lost Cause” 
 Myth in Local Public History
04.27 Pelham Historical Society lecture: Port  
 Colborne and the Welland Canal

MAY
05.13 Northland Pointe: The Humberstone Club
05.13 Mother’s Day Tea with Arabella Williams
05.14 Du Sacré-Coeur Gr. 3/4s Pioneer Program
05.23 Evergreen Academy
05.25 Overholt Cemetery tour: Part 1
05.25 St. Paul’s Cemetery and Overholt Cemetery 
 tour: Part 2

JUNE
06.03 Solid Comfort and Village tour
06.10 Solid Comfort and Village tour
06.14 McKay School Gr. 3 Pioneer Program
06.17 Solid Comfort and Village tour
06.21 History Photo Detectives Workshops as 
 part of school tours: McKay School
06.24 Solid Comfort and Village tour
06.27 Friends of Beaverdams Church: Behind   
 the Scenes tour
06.29 US Cycling Group Village tour

JULY
07.01 Solid Comfort and Village tour
07.05 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
07.08 Solid Comfort and Village tour
07.08 Arabella’s Kids
07.12 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
07.15 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
07.15 Arabella’s Kids
07.16 First Friends Daycare: Shipwreck Sleuth
07.16 Staff Presentation: Dealing with Race and 
 Class in a Walking Tour of the Humberstone 
 Summer Resort Company and Tennessee 
 Avenue: Drawing on New Approaches to the 
 American Civil War, and the “Lost Cause” 
 Myth in Local Public History
07.19 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
07.22 Arabella’s Kids
07.22 Solid Comfort and Village tour
07.24 ACW Oakwood Daycare: Shipwreck Sleuth
07.26 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
07.29 Arabella’s Kids
07.29 Solid Comfort and Village tour

INTERPRETATION AND EDUCATION

AUGUST
08.02 Humberstone Village Urban History   
 Walking Tours
08.05 Solid Comfort and Village tour
08.09 Humberstone Village Urban History   
 Walking Tours
08.12 Solid Comfort and Village tour
08.12 Arabella’s Kids
08.13 First Friends Daycare: Pioneer Program
08.16 Humberstone Village Urban History   
 Walking Tours
08.19 Solid Comfort and Village tour
08.19 Arabella’s Kids
08.23 Humberstone Village Urban History   
 Walking Tours
08.30 Humberstone Village Urban History   
 Walking Tours

SEPTEMBER

09.14 Spinning Workshop
09.14 Weaving Workshop
09.19 Archives Speakers Series: Cooking on Rations
09.21 Humberstone Club and Tennessee Ave 
 walking tour
09.24 Humberstone Club and Tennessee Ave 
 walking tour

OCTOBER
10.03 Lundy’s Lane Historical Society Lecture: 
 Port Colborne’s History in 10 Objects
10.05 Operations Centre Port Colborne: Touch a  
 Truck/Neff Steam Buggy
10.09 Northland Pointe: The Welland Canal
10.10 Archives Speakers Series: The Welland  
 Canal Landscape
10.23 West Street Urban History Walking Tours
10.24 Humberstone Club and Tennessee Ave 
 Walking tour
10.24 Archives Speakers Series: Creating a 
 Cottage Community: New Perspectives 
 on the History of Tennessee Avenue and 
 the Humberstone Summer Resort Company

NOVEMBER
11.09 Oakwood Cemetery Tour to Honour 
 Military Service

DECEMBER
12.04 Northland Pointe: Canadian Christmas 
 Traditions: Evergreens

Education Programmer Abbey Stansfield 
leads youth and adults on tours and 

workshops focusing on the heritage art of 
weaving and spinning. 

Heritage 
dress-up is a 
favourite at 
the museum’s 
many spring 
and summer 
events.

36



-16- -17-

MUSEUM SERVICES PROVIDED:
• Free admission to museum, exhibits, heritage  

village and marine park 
• School tours and education programs
• Summer Club
• Mariner’s Service slide show
• Guided group tours
• Bus tours
• Wheels to Meals annual picnic
• Research room
• Conservation workshop

SERVICES AND FACILITIES

2019 ARCHIVES  
SPEAKERS SERIES: 

SEPTEMBER 
Abbey Stansfield, M.A.:   

Cooking on Rations 
The challenges of feeding a family  

during Second World War rationing

OCTOBER
Terry Hughes:  

The Welland Canal Landscape 
1930 to the present

Michelle Vosburgh, Ph.D.:   
Creating a Cottage Community 

New perspectives on the history of  
Tennessee Avenue and the Humberstone  

Summer Resort Company

NOVEMBER
Michelle Vosburgh, Ph.D.:   
Oakwood Cemetery Tour  
To honour military service

• Museum gift shop
• Arabella’s Tea Room
• Covered pavilion
• Picnic tables, benches, gardens 

 and pathways
• 7 washrooms (4 accessible)
• Free parking
• Speaker Series

2019 PUBLIC SPEAKING 
PRESENTATIONS TO: 

Port Colborne Historical Society 
Evergreen Academy

Pelham Historical Society
Northland Pointe

Museums of Niagara Association
Port Colborne Museum Auxiliary 

Friends of Beaverdams Church 
Trefoil Guild - Girl Guides of Canada

Wheels to Meals

RESEARCH FACILITIES PROVIDED:
Fully accessible Heritage Research Archives providing documentary history of Port Colborne,  
Humberstone and the Welland Canal:
• Historic maps
• Historic photographs
• Indexed deeds and property record
• Directories (business and telephone)
• Microfilm
• Census records
• Cemetery records
• Welland Canal files and marine documents

• Ship files
• Family history files
• Local history books 
• Microfilmed historic business ledgers
• Assessment and collector rolls
• Land registry records
• Historic newspapers
• Florence Neff Young collection

RESEARCH ASSISTANCE  
IS PROVIDED FOR:

Heritage consultants
Environmental and industrial researchers

Genealogical researchers, students 
 and general researchers

 City staff
Archaeologists 

Journalists and reporters
 Authors

General interest researchers

 
The shady trees and green grass provide a lovely area to picnic and play an 
afternoon game of croquet before heading for Edwardian tea at Arabella’s  
Tea Room.  

37



-18- -19-

PROJECTS AND PUBLICATIONS

BUILDING & PROPERTY PROJECTS:
• Replacement of Arabella’s Tea Room roof with cedar shingles
• New water tank and water line for Arabella’s Tea Room
• Sherk Cabin garden fence repair 
• Harlequin maple tree planted
• Heritage Resource Centre first and second floor furnaces replaced.
• Sidewalks ground for any lifts on grounds
• Clean out of carriage house attic and museum basement

PUBLICATIONS PRODUCED
• 3 Museum newsletters: Spring, Summer & Fall
• Museum events and exhibit flyer: “Navigator”
• Arabella’s Tea Room flyer (French & English)
• Arabella’s volunteer handbook
• Pie social activities for Arabella’s Tea Room 
• Bookmarks, postcards & Christmas cards  

on heritage press
• Members’ Reception & Exhibit Preview 

invitations
• Cemetery tours flyers
• Urban walking tours flyers & posters
• Pie Social/History Fair/Antique Road Show 

flyers & posters
• Arabella’s Kids registration
• Canal Days flyers & posters 
• Speaker Series poster 
• Arabella’s Volunteer Appreciation invitations
• Christmas Festival flyers & posters
• Education program brochure/flyer
• Canal Days programs
• Volunteer Appreciation invitation

MUSEUM PUBLICATIONS FOR 
RESEARCH & SALE
• Golden Age of Humberstone Village
• A-Z Documentary History of Humberstone Village
• Port Colborne: Tales from the Age of Sail
• Coming Home—The 1901 Neff Steam Buggy
• Humberstone Township—The First Fifty Years
• Welland Canals at Port Colborne
• Memoirs of Pat MacDonald
• Scruples of Conscience—The War of 1812 in the 

Sugarloaf Settlement
• David Sherk and Descendants
• Caspar Sherk and Descendants
• Sherk—Troup House
• Kendricks: Port Colborne Lighthouse Keepers
• The Locktender’s House
• Port People—Builders and Shapers of our Culture  

and Community 
• Port Colborne and The Fenian Invasion of Canada 

June 1866
• Port People—Along the Lakeshore-Builders and 

Shapers of our Community in Port Colborne and 
Wainfleet

“I’VE HAD THE PLEASURE OF RECEIVING THE HIGHEST LEVEL 
OF ASSISTANCE AND PERIODIC HOSPITALITY WHENEVER 
I’VE VISITED THE PORT COLBORNE MUSEUM... STAFF HAVE 
CONSISTENTLY GONE ABOVE AND BEYOND EXPECTED PUBLIC 
SERVICE NORMS IN PROVIDING SOURCES, COMMUNITY 
CONTACTS AND RESEARCH ASSISTANCE WITH EVERY VISIT 
AND ALWAYS WITH A FRIENDLY, PROFESSIONAL ATTITUDE.”
DAVID MATTHEWS Researcher

 
Volunteers maintain the heritage gardens, which inspire local artists and act as a backdrop for wedding photos.

38



-20- -21-

EXHIBITS 2020

EVENTS 2020
APRIL 30 MUSEUM OPEN DAILY 12-5 PM

 MAY 31 ARABELLA’S PIE SOCIAL & HISTORY FAIR 12-4 PM

JUNE 1 ARABELLA’S TEA ROOM OPEN  
DAILY 2-4 PM UNTIL SEPTEMBER 30

JUNE 1-6 ARABELLA’S TEA ROOM  
TEA FOR TWO WEEK

JUNE, JULY & AUG GUIDED TOURS OF MUSEUM & HERITAGE VILLAGE | 
FRIDAYS 1 PM

JULY WEST ST URBAN HISTORY WALKING TOURS 
FRIDAYS 10 AM & 6 PM

AUG 2 & 3 CANAL DAYS MARINE HERITAGE FESTIVAL 11-5 PM

AUGUST HUMBERSTONE VILLAGE URBAN HISTORY WALK-
ING TOURS | FRIDAYS 10 AM & 6 PM

SEPT-NOV ARCHIVES SPEAKERS SERIES

DEC 6 GRAND OLD CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL | 12-4 PM

DEC 7-12 ARABELLA’S TEA ROOM CHRISTMAS  
PUDDING & SAUCE | 2-4 PM

DEC 20 MUSEUM CLOSES FOR THE SEASON

JOIN US IN 2020!

A VILLAGE BY THE CANAL
Explore the remarkable history of daily life 

150 years ago, when Port Colborne was 
incorporated as a village.

JUDGING
Helen Kinnear was called to the bar 100 
years ago, and became the first federally-

appointed female judge in Canada.
This exhibit examines her life in Port 

Colborne and remarkable legal career.

MISENER FAMILY SHIPPING
Over a century ago Captain Scott Misener 
began investing in ships. This exhibit sails 
into Misener Shipping, with items from 

the museum’s collection on display in the 
Marine Exhibit Lighthouse.

KEEP ME WARM AT NIGHT
Come and explore Port Colborne’s rich 
heritage of local weaving and the skills 

and traditions of textile arts.

MEMBERSHIP
We always welcome new members! Museum members benefit from the Museum Musings newsletter, 
invitations to exhibit previews, 10% off at the gift shop and free admission to Canal Days. 
Memberships can be purchased by filling out a membership card and dropping it into the mailbox or by 
visiting the city website and purchasing online: portcolborne.ca/page/residents_museum_membership. 
Life Patron membership is available for $100. Members who donate to the museum with their membership 
are eligible for an income tax receipts for donations over $20.

TOURS
The Museum and Archives offer a number of different tours, including various Urban History Walking 
Tours in the city of Port Colborne, Cemetery Tours, step-on bus tour, and tours of the Museum’s own 
Heritage Village. These tours offer residents and visitors an entertaining and informative glimpse into 
our community’s past, sharing the stories of the people and places which give Port Colborne such a rich 
cultural heritage.
Please call for rates and schedules, or follow us on Facebook.

L.R. WILSON HERITAGE RESEARCH ARCHIVES
The archives is open from 1pm to 5pm on weekdays and by appointment on weekends for heritage 
research specializing in genealogy, heritage home research, local history and marine heritage. 
The McDonald Conference Hall at the L.R. Wilson Heritage Research Archives is available for rent and 
large enough to accommodate groups with diverse purposes. Hall rental includes 8 tables, 52 stacking 
chairs and access to a kitchenette which includes a small fridge, microwave, coffee maker and kettle.
Rental Fees:
4 Hour rental: $75.00  |  8 Hour rental: $120.00 
Note: A $20.00 deposit is required when booking the Conference Hall. Prices do not include HST.
To book the Conference Hall, please call the museum at 905-834-7604.

Dancers from Tara’s School of Dance 
kick up the energy under the big top 
during the city of Port Colborne’s 
signature event, Canal Days. 

39

http://portcolborne.ca/page/residents_museum_membership
https://www.facebook.com/PortColborneHistoricalMarineMuseum/


-22- -23-

ARCHIVES AWARENESS WEEK 
April 6 to 12, 2020
Archives Awareness Week 2020 featured a 
theme of “Archives Online” this year.  
The L.R. Wilson Heritage and Research 
Archives celebrated by sharing a collection 
of archival documents related to the First 
World War from the Schooley Collection. 
These documents presented the journey of 
Karl Schooley as he volunteered for service 
in 1916, to his return on the S.S. Melita 
after being wounded.

ONTARIO HERITAGE WEEK 2020 
February 17 to 23, 2020
This year the L.R. Wilson Archives virtually 
shared many feature artifacts from the 
Fred Addis Sports collection. This was also 
in honour of the City of Port Colborne 
wrapping up SportsFest 2020.

VIRTUAL TOP HAT PRESENTATION 
March 24, 2020
To mark the opening of the Southern terminus of 
the Welland Canal, the Port Colborne Museum 
virtually presented the beaver fur top hat to the 
first captain. The M.V. CSL Tadoussac spent the 
winter tied up in Port Colborne and was the first 
downbound vessel at 4:15am. HISTORY FROM HOME 

April 9, 2020
The Port Colborne Museum launched a campaign on 
April 9, 2020 encouraging citizens of Port Colborne 
to “Help Capture History From Home”. Citizens were 
asked to handwrite letters of their personal experience 
(thoughts, feelings, drawings, photographs, and/or 
daily activities at home) during the time, to share a 
snapshot of what life was like for future generations. 
Museum staff would reply to letters if requested.  
These letters were compiled in our Heritage Resource 
Centre and Archives, and could one day be a part of 
the collection.

TEA TIME WITH ARABELLA  
April 3, 2020
Museum education programmer, Abbey Stansfield, 
provided an educational video to encourage those at 
home to enjoy afternoon tea. The video featured Arabella 
Williams providing insightful tea tips as well as sharing a 
historical biscuit recipe.

MAY IS MUSEUM MONTH 
May 2020
To celebrate Museum Month this year, the Port Colborne Museum 
featured an “artifact a day” on Instagram. Staff members each 
took turns posting an artifact a day and providing background 
information to these intriguing pieces. In total, the artifacts 
received 786 likes for the month of May, and saw 39 comments.

THEN AND NOW - L.R. WILSON 
HERITAGE RESEARCH ARCHIVES 
2020
“Then and Now” social media posts on the L.R. 
Wilson Heritage Research Archives Facebook 
page are a continuous way that we reach out 
to the public to showcase archives we possess 
and garner interest in local history. Due to the 
Archives being closed to the public for walk-in 
research, requests for these posts have increased 
and Archivist Michelle Vosburgh has been 
featuring more “Then and Now” posts since 
May, 2020. There have been 30 “Then and Now” 
posts this year so far, highlighting buildings, 
places, and landscapes in Port Colborne’s past 
and what they look like currently, as well as a 
social media hashtag #pcthenandnow. As of 
July 22, 2020 these posts have amassed 1,531 
reactions, 154 comments, 392 shares, and have 
reached over 43,600 people on Facebook.

GREAT CANADIAN GIVING CHALLENGE 
June 2020
This year the Port Colborne Museum is participating in the 
Great Canadian Giving Challenge. In the month of June, 
every $1 donated to a charity registered on the Canada 
Helps website will give the charity a chance to win $20,000. 
The Museum has shared our donation page on social media 
and encouraged anyone who has the ability to support us 
to please donate on this platform. As fundraising opportun-
ities have struggled with cancelled events this year, it is the 
perfect platform to encourage donations.

YOUR OUTDOOR MUSEUM 
PARKS AND RECREATION MONTH  
June 2020
In support of the City of Port Colborne’s Recreation 
and Parks month for June, the Port Colborne Museum 
has been taking visitors on a virtual walking tour of 
the Museum grounds. Each day the Port Colborne 
Museum’s Instagram page shares a photograph of 
an outdoor feature at the Museum - usually one of 
our beautiful plants, flowers, or trees, coupled with a 
historic building in our village. These posts have so far 
amassed 19 comments, and 717 likes.

ARABELLA’S PIE SOCIAL, ON THE ROAD 
May 31, 2020
Our annual Arabella’s Pie Social and History Fair was cancelled 
this year. This event usually marks the opening of Arabella’s Tea 
Room for the season and welcomes in another year of visitors at 
the Museum. Museum Staff decided to give back to the volunteers 
this year, and delivered an afternoon treat to almost 40 volunteers 
who dedicate their time to Arabella’s Tea Room.

CHANGING TIMES 

HOW WE’VE ADAPTED AND GROWN IN RESPONSE 
TO TO THE CHALLENGES OF COVID-19

40



-24-

PORT COLBORNE HISTORICAL & MARINE MUSEUM

280 King Street, Port Colborne, ON  L3K 5X8 

905-834-7604 | museum@portcolborne.ca

PortColborneHistoricalMarineMuseum                       ArabellasTeaRoom                      WilsonArchives

@PortMuseum              @portcolbornemuseum

http://www.museumsontario.ca/museum/Port-Colborne-Historical-and-M

Lakeshore Catholic High 
School co op student 

Katelyn Lewis right, 
prepares a student for 
her lesson in the 1835  

log schoolhouse.

41

mailto:museum%40portcolborne.ca?subject=
https://www.facebook.com/PortColborneHistoricalMarineMuseum/
https://www.facebook.com/arabellastearoom/
https://www.facebook.com/WilsonArchives
https://twitter.com/portmuseum?lang=en
https://www.instagram.com/portcolbornemuseum/?hl=en
http://www.museumsontario.ca/museum/Port-Colborne-Historical-and-M


42



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 1 of 7 
 
 

 
   
 Planning and Development Department 
  
 

Report Number:  2020-103    Date: August 24, 2020 
 
SUBJECT:  Department of Planning and Development 2020 Annual Report 

1) PURPOSE: 
 
The purpose of the report is to provide Council with information on the Department of 
Planning and Development’s 2020 activity with respect to applications, complaints and 
building permits. The report also provides other activities that staff are involved in. 
 
2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 
 
As Council is aware, the Department of Planning and Development is comprised of the 
following Divisions: Planning, Building and By-law Enforcement. 
 
The Planning Division is mainly responsible for the administration, review and processing 
of various applications submitted under the Planning Act. The Division also processes 
incentive applications made through a Community Improvement Plan and deals with 
matters related to the Ontario Heritage Act. 
 
The Building Division is responsible for the issuance of building permits in accordance 
with the Building Code Act and municipal regulations. 
 
The By-law Enforcement Division manages the enforcement of by-laws, regulations, 
policies, procedures and provides professional public service throughout the municipality. 
 
This report will provide details on what each Division worked on in 2020 with information 
provided to August 1, 2020 so that this report could be prepared. 
 
3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 
 
2020 has been a year unlike any other in dealing with COVID-19. Staff have been busy 
ensuring the Department’s employees are working in a safe environment in City Hall and 
adhering to protocols when working from home. Recovery plans are also in place in 
dealing with the pandemic and how to get back to a level of normalcy in City Hall servicing 
the public. 
 
COVID-19 has required By-law Enforcement staff to conduct enforcement related to the 
provincial actions on social distancing and opening of businesses. The Division has been 
working in concert with the Niagara Regional Police on enforcement matters. 
 
COVID-19 has required the Building Division to follow provincial direction related to types 
of building permits being issued and how inspections are being done. The Building 

43



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 2 of 7 
 
 

Division has been diligent in informing the public (with Communications’ assistance) on 
where things are at related to building permit review and updates through social media. 
 
Building Division 
 
The pandemic has had a dramatic effect on building permit volume in 2020. Permit activity 
in the spring months (March, April, and May) was down almost 75% from last year. An 
early summer rush has brought an increase in permit activity, however, a great majority 
of these projects are small scale projects such as decks, sheds and pools. Therefore, a 
corresponding recovery in permit revenue is not being realized. 
 
The addition of the new Building Inspector/By-Law Enforcement Officer is starting to 
provide some efficiencies. The new inspector is steadily gaining knowledge and 
experience and has begun important independent work in both the Building Division and 
the By-Law Division. This is helping to increase the capacity of the department and to 
improve the quality of service delivery, particularly as the department has pivoted to 
respond to the pandemic. 
 

 
 
Planning Division 
 

 

225 214

260
280

264

336 332

124

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Annual Permit Activity
2014‐2020 (2020 up to July 31st)

Application Type for Planner Number of Applications 
Zoning By-law Amendment 2 
Site Plan Control/Development Agreement 5 
Plan of Subdivision extension and amendment 2 
Minor Variance 6 
Severance 3 
Heritage Registry property removal 2 
Zoning By-law complaint inspections 35 properties 
JART PC Quarries  2 pending 

44



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 3 of 7 
 
 

The pandemic has seen a 45% reduction thus far in planning applications from 2019. The 
reduction in building permit volume has resulted in fewer minor variance applications 
being made as building construction is down. Planning staff have still been assisting the 
development community by continuing with pre-consultation meetings and conference 
calls for future planning applications for development. 
 
Other miscellaneous Planning duties by Director Number / task 
Land purchase requests 4 
NYON Energy Park development review Site plan control & removal of 

holding provision 
LPAT hearings 3 
Affordable Housing Strategy Forthcoming 

CIP incentive applications 3 

Site Alteration Applications 3 

Screening Officer review of parking tickets 30 requests reviewed 
 
By-law Enforcement Division 
 
By-law complaints have continued to increase over the last few years, and with new by-
laws, policies and the increase in complaints, a new detailed procedure was required. 
CP-09-2017 By-law Complaint Procedures was created. 
 
Complaints increase and decrease based on the season, weather and other issues. A hot 
dry summer decreases the number of grass complaints, a heavy snowfall and harsh 
winters increase snow complaints, and parking and traffic issues such as those along 
lakefront road allowances increase by-law enforcement time inside and outside of the 
office due to reports, by-law amendments and ticketing. 
 

 
 
 

511
576

648 681
818

450

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Jan to July 2020

By‐law Enforcement Division Yearly Complaints

Bylaw…

45



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 4 of 7 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Jan to July 2020

By‐law Enforcement Division Yearly Complaints by Type

Fence Grass Lot Mtnce Noise Other Parking Parking IWSR Pools PSO Signs Snow Trees Zoning

133

184

161

34

By‐law Complaints by Ward 
2015

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

151

212

164

49

By‐law Complaints by Ward 
2016

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

46



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 5 of 7 
 
 

 

 
 
Customer Service 
 
Emails – bylawenforcement@portcolborne.ca  receives 650 to 750 emails per year.  This 
year the email from January to July are 726 emails. 
 
Each officer is averaging 4,500 email communications. 
 
The Manager of By-law Services has approximately 11,000 email communications per 
year.    
 
Email communications range from accepting calendar invites, to scheduling meetings and 
responding to customers and staff. 
 
The City does not track the number of phones calls the Division receives or makes; 
however, there are four (4) phone extensions for the public to access the Division. Phone 
extensions are 207, 208, 209 & 210 
 
Staff do not track the number of customers that attend the front counter for assistance, 
however, inquiries range from By-law related issues, to civil disputes to issues that are 
not under City jurisdiction.  The Front Counter is located on the second floor of City Hall. 

192

184

198

74

By‐law Complaints by Ward 
2017

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

224

192

191

74

By‐law Complaints by 
Ward 2018

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

237

219

261

101

By‐law Complaints by Ward 
2019

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

142

115

162

30

By‐law Complaints by 
Ward 

Jan to July 2020

Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 Ward 4

47



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 6 of 7 
 
 

By-law staff assist with trespassers, homelessness, fire issues, public works, municipal 
consents, COVID-19 and any other department needs as required. 
 
Final Director Comments 
 
Council’s previous budget approval of the new Building Inspector/By-Law Enforcement 
Officer and By-law Intake Officer has provided improved customer service and 
performance from the Building and By-law Enforcement Divisions and has been greatly 
appreciated.  
 
Staff appreciate Council’s approval of additional staff to better service the development 
community and the response time dealing with complaints from the public and closing of 
many files. Staff share the same goal as the community does in ensuring the City is kept 
beautiful and remain proud of the work performed in achieving this. 
 
The Community/Policy Planner position has been vacant since September 2019 and the 
Planning Clerk/Technician remains vacant since March 2020. The job description of the 
Planning Clerk/Technician has been revised so that the Community/Policy Planner can 
remain vacant thereby saving the Department budget funds during a time which has seen 
a loss in Planning Division revenue as a result of the pandemic. Staff will soon begin with 
the recruitment of the Planning Clerk/Technician position that will also act as 
Secretary/Treasurer of the Committee of Adjustment thereby freeing up considerable time 
for the Planner to focus on development proposals and applications.  
 
The Department is staffed with dedicated and competent employees that are proud in 
providing good customer service to the community and beyond. The department is 
fortunate to have a good mix of experienced and younger staff that learn from one another 
and work well together. Staff are all aware that the Director preaches good customer 
service and so does City Council. 
 
4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  
 
a) Do nothing 
 
Not applicable. 
 
b) Other Options 
 
Not applicable. 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 
 
Not applicable. 

6)  ATTACHMENTS 
 
None. 

48



 
Planning and Development Department, Report No.: 2020-103     Page 7 of 7 
 
 

7)  RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Planning and Development Department, Report No. 2020-103, Subject: Department 
of Planning and Development 2020 Annual Report, be received for information. 
 

 
 
 

49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



Account #
Project Sponsor 

(Representative of User 
Base) - Department

Project 
Sponsor 

(Representative 
of User Base) - 

Division

Responsible by
(Dept) Account Name Project Name/Description  Original 

Budget 

 Council 
Approved 

Adjustments 
 Project + / -  Adjusted 

Budget 

Approved 
Budget 
Year (s)

 Operating  Reserves  Debt  Gas Tax Restricted 
Grants 

When can 
project be 
closed out 

(Year)

Comments

Completed or Cancelled Project

3-540-33173 Community Services Parks Parks Downtown BIA Comm 
Improve Plan

Downtown - Trash Receptacles - 
purchased 40 garbage containers in 
downtown core@$1,206 each plus HST

50,000           - - 50,000           2020 50,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-600-33564 Community Services Parks Engineering P & R Park 
Expenditures

Sunset Park-New Asphalt Walkway & 
Swingset - Project #16 Comm Services 33,985           - (8,675) 25,310           2020 - 33,985 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-600-33564 Community Services Parks Fleet P & R Park 
Expenditures

Purchase of an Arm Mower - Trail 
maintenance to replace contractors 30,000           - - 30,000           2020 - 30,000 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Parks Nickel Beach 
Improvements Park Furniture - Accessible Beach Mat 1,000 - - 1,000 2019 - 1,000 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Recreation  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC-Floor Scrubber Replacement - 
Project #21 Comm Services 10,000           - (120) 9,880 2020 10,000 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-670-33568 Community Services Marina Marina Marina Capital 
Expenditure

Hydro Pedestal Replacements-10 per 
year - Project #33 Comm Services 15,000           - - 15,000           2020 15,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-670-33568 Community Services Marina Marina Marina Capital 
Expenditure

Dock Float Replacements-16 floats per 
year - Annual amount 11,000           - - 11,000           2020 5,500       5,500       -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-670-33568 Community Services Marina Marina Marina Capital 
Expenditure

Marine Moblie Lift-Automatic Greasing 
System - Project #34 Comm Services 10,000           - 70 10,070           2020 - 10,000 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-670-33162 Community Services Marina IT Sugarloaf Marina Mitel Phone system addition 1,900 - - 1,900 2019 - 1,900 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

0-400-72120 Fire Fire Fire Fire General Admin Risk Assessment - Year 1 of 5 Program 
for Compliane with Ontario Regulation 15,000           - (15,000) - 2020 15,000     - -           -           -           2020 Completed in-house

3-400-34550 Fire Fire Fire Fire Equipment 
Purchases Radio System Back-up 15,000           - (15,000) - 2020 15,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Partnering with St. Catharines

3-310-33118 Community Services Recreation Facilities  City Hall VHWC - Lighting upgrades 50,000           - 1,000 51,000           2019 -           -           -           50,000     -           2020
Rebate anticipated of $6,000 to $12,000 
which will be reserved for future energy 
saving initatives

3-310-33121 Planning and Development By-law Facilities Animal Shelter Project F2020-08 Air Exchanger/replace 
hot water heater  & ventilation 6,500 - - 6,500 2020 - 6,500 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-600-33565 Community Services Parks Facilities P & R Facility 
Projects

Centennial Park - Project F2020-06 
(Pavilion LED lighting and electrical 
upgrades)

6,500 - - 6,500 2020 - 6,500 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-600-33584 Community Services Recreation Facilities Sherkston Community 
Centre

Sherkston community Centre  - Project 
F2020-11 install exterior 
lights/accessibility issues

2,500 - - 2,500 2020 2,500       -           -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Washroom and Dressing room 
tiles, Replacement of all rooms with tiles 
missing or loose

37,500           - 1,200 38,700           2019-2020 37,500     -           -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - fall arrest cable system, fall 
arrest protection on the roof-updated 
cost

46,000           - (43,000) 3,000 2019 - 46,000 -           -           -           2020 Introduced SOP model as alternative to 
project

3-670-33162 Community Services Marina Facilities Sugarloaf Marina 
Centre

Marina Building - Project F2020-07 
Facility repairs/Security and 
Maintenance Issues

17,600           - - 17,600           2020 - 17,600 -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

3-670-33607 Community Services Marina Facilities SHM Leasehold 
Improvements

Marina Restaurant  - Project F2020-04 
(Flooring replacement) 42,000           - - 42,000           2020 42,000     - -           -           -           2020 Substantially complete

0-540-74610 Public Works Engineering Engineering Engineering General 
Admin Facility Maintenance Study 75,500           - (75,500) - 2020 - 75,500 -           -           -           2020

To be closed and consolidated into 2021 
capital budget request to assess the 
condition of all City assets

0-540-74612 Public Works Engineering Engineering  Facility Energy Audit

Renewable Passive Energy Generation - 
consultant required to investigate 
feasibility of installing at Operations 
Centre

15,000           - (15,000) - 2020 - 15,000 -           -           -           2020

To be closed and reconsidered in a future 
year following the condition assessment 
work to be proposed in the 2021 captial 
budget.

3-500-33129 Public Works Engineering Financial Services Roadway 
Construction Roads Debenture 34,567           - - 34,567           2020 34,567     -           -           -           -           2020 Payment complete

Original Source of Funding

Report 2020-116
Appendix A

136



3-800-34012 Museum Museum Financial Services Log Cabin Unfunded museum log cabin 11,000           -                 596                11,596           2020 11,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Funding a previously approved project that 
was overbudget in prior year

3-600-33562 Community Services Recreation Recreation Canada Summer 
Games

Canada Summer Games 2021 - 3rd year 
of 4 yr commitment to Sport Tourism 
Capital Reserve - $30,000

7,500             -                 -                     7,500             2018-2021 7,500       -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

3-600-33562 Community Services Recreation Recreation Canada Summer 
Games

13 for 13 Cultural Program-2021 Canada 
Games Event - Project #28 Comm 
Services (Cultural Event yr 1 of 2 
funding)

5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2020-2021 5,000       -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Finance Roselawn Centre Annual Allocation 80,000           -                 -                     80,000           2020 80,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

3-500-33150 Public Works Fleet Fleet Equipment 
Replacement

Vehicles and Equpment - Annual 
allocation (Annual Replacements / 
Building-replace 2008 Nissan Sentra / 
Eng Project-02 1/2 ton truck due to 
restructuring)

400,000         -                 -                     400,000         2020 400,000   -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

3-700-33700 Library Library Library Library Building RenovAnnual allocation - per library capital budge 45,000           -                 -                     45,000           2020 45,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

0-900-82110 Planning and Development Planning Planning  Planning And 
Development

Official Plan Review - Annual cost for 5 
yrs 15,000           -                 -                     15,000           2019-2023 15,000     -           -           -           -           2020 Transfer to reserves complete

1,090,052      -                 (169,429)        920,623         780,567   259,485   -           50,000     -           

Projects in Progress to be Completed in 2020

3-600-33574 Community Services Parks Engineering Parkway Trails Friendship Trail(East West)-Replace 
Asphalt - Project #13 Comm Services 32,938           -                 -                     32,938           2020 32,938     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Main entrance pylon sign - 
rebuild the sign including design 9,000             -                 61,000           70,000           2020 -           9,000       -           -           -           2020

In progress.  Additional funding 
recommended from project related to 
Sealing Floors plus other closed out 
projects.

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Sealing Floors in Rink 1 and 
Rink 2, coat with concrete sealer-both  
are stained

33,000           86,000           (45,000)          74,000           2020 -           33,000     -           -           -           2020

Project moved forward from a multi-year 
approach to all at once while building empty 
due to social distancing - see Report 2020-
81.  Currently estimating to be underbudget 
and for remainder to fund VHWC sign

3-600-33564 Community Services Parks Parks  P & R Park 
Expenditures

Picnic Tables-Replace in various parks 
and repairs - Project #18 Comm Services 29,037           -                 -                     29,037           2020 29,037     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-670-33568 Community Services Marina Fleet Marina Capital 
Expenditure

Truck replacement-lease for 36 months - 
Project #35 Comm Services (annual 
lease payments)

11,352           -                 -                     11,352           2020 -           11,352     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-600-33565 Community Services Parks Parks  P & R Facility 
Projects

Ice Box @ HH Knoll Park (Previously 
"Dawg's Burgers and Fries") - Steel roof 
and gutter replacement - REPURPOSED

30,000           26,000-           -                     4,000             2016-2017 -           30,000     -           -           -           2020

Funds reallocated - see Report 2020-68. 
$4,000 to remove current facility and the 
adjacent concrete slab with remaining funds 
earmarked for future site development (to 
be presented to Council later in 2020 for 
consideration)

3-500-33134 Public Works Engineering Engineering Valley Camp/Public 
Works Bldg

Building Demolitions-11 King St Facility - 
Project ENG 2020-10 (Demolish sand 
dome and pump house)

35,000           -                 -                     35,000           2020 -           35,000     -           -           -           2020 Funding received through TIAO / Niagara 
South provided completed in 2020

3-150-35110 Economic Development Economic Develo Engineering Engineering

Cruise Ship Berthing Facility (Council 
Reported) - Project ENG 2020-09 
(Design concepts with 3D renderings of 
final concept)

10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 -           10,000     -           -           -           2020 Funding received through TIAO / Niagara 
South provided completed in 2020

3-500-33150 Public Works Operations Operations Equipment 
Replacement

Roadwatch Monitoring System in Winter 
Control Vehicles - Project OPS-19 
(Equip 9 vehicles to monitor road 
conditions)

6,300             -                 -                     6,300             2020 6,300       -           -           -           -           2021 In progress

3-400-34550 Fire Fire Fire Fire Equipment 
Purchases Annual Fire Equipment 15,000           -                 15,000           2020 15,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-400-34550 Fire Fire Fire Fire Equipment 
Purchases Auto Extraction/Air Bags Lifting Device 15,000           -                 (5,000)            10,000           2020 1,875       13,125     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-400-34553 Fire Fire Fire Fire Hall Painting/carpets/computers/office 
furniture 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2020 5,000       -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-400-34556 Fire Fire Fire Bunker Gear/Air 
Bottles bunker gear replacement/helmets 20,000           -                 (10,000)          10,000           2020 15,150     4,850       -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-400-34558 Fire Fire Fire Smoke and CO2 
Alarm Program

Fire Safety Initiative - Smoke and 
Carbon Monoxide Alarm Program 15,000           -                 (10,000)          5,000             2020 15,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

137



3-400-34557 Fire Fire Fire Fire Prev 
Equip/Educ/Training SCBA 450,000         -                 (8,500)            441,500         2019-2020 -           450,000   -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Fitness & Gymnasium areas 
water drips, fabricate/install an interior 
gutter cover to capture drips along 
central roof

10,000           -                     -                     10,000           2019 -           10,000     -           -           -           TBD In progress

3-500-33131 Community Services Parks Facilities Other Facilities 
Maintenance

Lighthouse on Main St - Project FAC 
2020-05 (Restoration of outside of 
building)

13,500           -                 -                     13,500           2020 13,500     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-600-33123 Community Services Recreation Facilities Bethel Community 
Cente

Heritage engineer inspection and roof 
replacement 51,000           -                 24,000           75,000           2016 -           51,000     -           -           -           2020

In progress.  Grant application has been 
submitted for $25,000 as a potential cost 
offset

3-600-33588 Community Services Recreation Facilities Soccer Complex Soccer Building - Project F2020-03 
(pump for sanitary sewer system) 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2020 -           5,000       -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-800-34009 Museum Museum Facilities Heritage Research 
Archives Museum Archive Building HVAC 18,500           -                 -                     18,500           2019 -           18,500     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-500-33125 Public Works Engineering Engineering Railway Crossing 
Improvements

At Grade Rail Crossing Improvements 
(Council Request) - Project ENG 2020-
11 (Works required based on RFP for 
inspections done)

100,000         -                 25,000           125,000         2020 61,761     38,239     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-500-33129 Public Works Engineering Engineering Roadway 
Construction Road Resurfacing Program 1,145,194      -                 (220,194)        925,000         2020 480,194   -           -           665,000   -           2020 In progress.  

3-500-33141 Public Works Engineering Engineering Traffic Signals

Flashing Speed Zone Amber Beacons - 
Project OPS-03 (install a 40km/hr 
beacons at Saint Therese School-Killaly 
St E)

25,000           -                 -                     25,000           2020 25,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-500-33155 Public Works Engineering Engineering Sidewalk 
Replacement

Sidewalk Replacement - Annual 
Allocation 125,000         -                 -                     125,000         2020 125,000   -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-595-33437 Public Works Engineering Engineering Bulk Water Station Elm St Bulk Water Station 269,690         -                 -                     269,690         2018 269,690   -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-500-33593 Public Works Facilities Facilities Operations Centre 
Construction

Operations Centre - Project F2020-02 
(Various items) 199,000         -                 -                     199,000         2020 199,000   -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-600-33123 Community Services Recreation Facilities Bethel Community 
Cente

Project F2020-09 install outside security 
lights/accessibility items/flooring 7,000             -                 (3,500)            3,500             2020 3,000       4,000       -           -           -           2020

In progress. Split project - Move 
accessibility portion to be completed in 
2021 (see projects deferred below)

3-800-34009 Museum Museum Museum Heritage Research 
Archives Large Format Scanner - Archives 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2019 -           5,000       -           -           -           2020 In progress

0-915-72410 Planning & Development Building Information TechnologBuilding Division New Inspection Software and Hardware 46,500           -                 -                     46,500           2018 -           46,500     -           -           -           2020 In progress

0-900-82110 Planning & Development Planning & DeveloPlanning & Developme Planning And 
Development Affordable Housing Strategy 75,000           -                 -                     75,000           2020 52,700     22,300     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-800-34006 Museum Museum Museum Museum Building Cedar shingles - 2nd year of project to 
treat and repair of 6 roofs 10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 10,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress. To include Carriage House, 

School House, and Blacksmith Shop

3-800-34008 Museum Museum Museum Historical & Marine 
Museum

Building Equip/Repairs - Lifeboat 
preservation and upgrade garage of 
Arabella's

10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 10,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-800-34009 Museum Museum Museum Heritage Research 
Archives

Accessibility - repair sidewalk to Heritage 
Resource Centre 10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 10,000     -           -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-800-34009 Museum Museum Museum Heritage Research 
Archives

Shelving/Art Rack Heritage Resource 
Building 25,000           -                 -                     25,000           2019 -           25,000     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-540-33144 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation TechnologComputer Upgrades Annual allocation for computers 104,950         -                 -                     104,950         2020 104,950   -           -           -           -           2020 In progress
3-310-33118 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation Technolog City Hall New Server Rack 3,000             -                 -                     3,000             2018 -           3,000       -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-540-33144 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation TechnologComputer Upgrades
Genetec Security System Upgrade - All 
security cameras and door controllers/ 
provide access to NRPS

3,000             -                 -                     3,000             2020 -           3,000       -           -           -           2020 In progress

3-540-33144 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation TechnologComputer Upgrades IT Security Assessment 23,750           -                 -                     23,750           2020 -           23,750     -           -           -           2020 In progress

3,001,711      60,000           (192,194)        2,869,517      ######## ######## -           665,000   -           

Projects Associated with Grant Applications AWARDED

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Engineering Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Bike Lane Project-Welland St from 
Clarence St 487,920         -                 -                     487,920         2020 -           -           -           -           487,920   2021

In progress. Investing in Canada Grant 
Application-Public Transit $348,814 plus 
Vale Community Investment Fund 
$139,106. 2021 spend timeline. 

3-600-33582 Community Services Parks Facilities HH Knoll Park

HH Knoll Park Improvements (FedDev 
Ont Grant) - Solar Lighting/Wayfinding 
Signage/Accessibility Sidewalk/Facilities 
lighting

200,000         -                 -                     200,000         2020 -           -           -           -           200,000   2021 In progress. 2021 spend timeline. 

138



687,920         -                 -                     687,920         -           -           -           -           687,920   

Projects Associated with Grant Applications NOT YET AWARDED

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Engineering Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Waterfront Development Project - Project 
#2 Comm Services-Investing in Canada 
Grant Application-Recreation $2,085,139 
(Vale Community Investment Fund 
$758,361)

2,843,500      -                 -                     2,843,500      2020 -           -           -           -           ######## TBD

Investing in Canada Grant Application-
Recreation $2,085,139 plus Vale 
Community Investment Fund $758,361. 
Grant application submitted in late 2019.  
Have not received update on application 
status.  Subsequent application to be made 
under the new 2020 ICIP grant

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Engineering Nickel Beach 
Improvements Nickel Beach Parking Lot 338,500         -                 -                     338,500         2020 -           35,967     -           -           302,533   TBD

Vale Community Investment Fund & Nickel 
Beach Reserve. Funds held until grant 
funding secured.  Subsequent application 
to be made under the new 2020 ICIP grant

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Parks Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Water Supply and 
Washroom/Changeroom Upgrades 50,000           -                 -                     50,000           2018 -           50,000     -           -           -           TBD

Funds held until other Nickel Beach grant 
funding secured.  Subsequent application 
to be made under the new 2020 ICIP grant

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Parks Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Security Cameras - -placement for main 
entrance 6,300             -                 -                     6,300             2019 -           6,300       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre

Project #4 Community Services - 
Condition assessment-interior 
finish/mechanical,electrical and 
structure. Waiting for outcome of grant 
funding applied for to determine extent of 
the scope of work.

15,000           -                 -                     15,000           2020 -           15,000     -           -           -           TBD

Grant application submitted in late 2019. 
Have not received update on application 
status. Subsequent application to be made 
under the new 2020 ICIP grant.

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre

Roselawn Interior 
Renovation/Rehabilitation - Project #5 
Comm Services-Investing in Canada 
Grant Application-Recreation

2,559,700      -                 -                     2,559,700      2020 -           682,672   -           -           ######## TBD

Grant application submitted in late 2019. 
Have not received update on application 
status. Subsequent application to be made 
under the new 2020 ICIP grant

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre New kitchen windows and raised roof 
repairs 5,500             -                 -                     5,500             2019 -           5,500       -           -           -           2020 Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre Main theatre entrance roof replacement 20,000           -                 -                     20,000           2019 -           20,000     -           -           -           2020 Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Information Technolog Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC- 2 - 70" monitors for promotion 
and tournament stats 10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 -           -           -           -           10,000     TBD

Donation from Golden Puck Hockey over 2 
years - to be completed when funds 
received

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall Fall arrest protection on the roof 12,000           -                     -                     12,000           2019 -           12,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-600-33565 Community Services Facilities Facilities P & R Facility 
Projects

Humberstone Centennial Park - replace 
south side large older pavilion roof - 
metal roof

17,400           -                     -                     17,400           2017 -           17,400     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-600-33565 Community Services Facilities Facilities P & R Facility 
Projects

HH Knoll Park - replace old band shell 
roof with original cedar shingles 16,500           -                     -                     16,500           2017 -           16,500     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall
City Hall - Replacement of Windows over 
3 years - 2019 - 3rd floor/ 2020 - 2nd 
floor $40,000/ 2021 - 1st floor $40,000

85,000           -                     -                     85,000           2019-2021 40,000     45,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall Upgrades to 6 year old HVAC units 20,000           -                     -                     20,000           2019 -           20,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall Flat roof area patched & vents installed 
to prevent condensation leaking 10,000           -                     -                     10,000           2019 -           10,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall
City Hall bus shelter vestibule - Install an 
exhaust fan to clear the air (transit 
reserve)

2,500             -                     -                     2,500             2019 -           2,500       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Public Works Facilities Facilities  City Hall Remote monitoring system for the Stand-
by generator and sump pumps 5,000             -                     -                     5,000             2019 -           5,000       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Insulating ductwork, in the 
Bocce Club area 4,600             -                     -                     4,600             2019 -           4,600       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Insulating ductwork, in Rink 1 
area 16,500           -                     -                     16,500           2019 -           16,500     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC - Remote monitoring system for 
the Stand-by generator and sewage 
pumps

5,000             -                     -                     5,000             2019 -           5,000       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-640-33591 Community Services Recreation Facilities  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC-pool rehab of tiles - capital 
improvement per YMCA Agreement 42,000           -                 -                     42,000           2020 -           42,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre New kitchen windows and raised roof 
repairs 5,500             -                     -                     5,500             2019 -           5,500       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant.  ED 

business plan also requested

139



3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre

Project #4 Community Services - 
Condition assessment-interior 
finish/mechanical,electrical and 
structure. Waiting for outcome of grant 
funding applied for to determine extent of 
the scope of work.

15,000           -                     -                     15,000           2020 -           15,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant.  ED 
business plan also requested

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre Main theatre entrance roof replacement 20,000           -                     -                     20,000           2019 -           20,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant.  ED 
business plan also requested

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre Replace the Public Annoucement (PA) 
Speaker System 8,500             -                     -                     8,500             2019 -           8,500       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant.  ED 

business plan also requested

3-670-33610 Community Services Parks Facilities Harbourmaster 
Building

HarbourMaster Building - Siding 
complete/skirting replaced/deck structure 
and boards replaced

24,500           -                     -                     24,500           2018 -           24,500     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-600-33582 Community Services Parks Engineering HH Knoll Park HH Knoll Park-Replace Asphalt 
Walkways - Project #11 Comm Services 55,326           -                 -                     55,326           2020 -           55,326     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation Technolog City Hall

City Hall Server Room Relocation - 
Provide a secure location in 
basement/provide needed office space 
first floor

180,000         -                 -                     180,000         2020 -           180,000   -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 Corporate Services Information TechnInformation Technolog City Hall Access Control Door Reader for Server 
Room 2,000             -                 -                     2,000             2018 -           2,000       -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33119 Corporate Services Administration Administration Modernization Project Customer Service Initiative and 
Renovations 175,000         -                 -                     175,000         -           175,000   -           -           -           TBD Repurposed from Modernization project.  

Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 CAO Administration Facilities  City Hall
3rd Floor Furniture Replacement - 
Council chambers/Library/Committee 
Room 3

54,420           -                 -                     54,420           2020 10,420     44,000     -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

3-310-33118 CAO Administration Facilities  City Hall Replace portions of carpeting/painting 
etc 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2020 5,000       -           -           -           -           TBD Associated with 2020 ICIP Grant

6,630,246      -                 -                     6,630,246      55,420     ######## -           -           ########

Projects to be completed Post 2020 (COVID-19 impact was identified as a factor in each)

3-600-33564 Community Services Parks Engineering P & R Park 
Expenditures

New solar park lighting (funding Parks 
reserve) - 9,000 each for 5 parks 45,000           -                 -                     45,000           2013-2016 -           45,000     -           -           -           2020 Deferred to 2021

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Parks  Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Waterfront Development Master Plan - 
Project #1 Comm Services-phase 1 
conceptual phase 2 design and build 
(Vale Community Investment Fund)

50,000           -                 -                     50,000           2020 -           -           -           50,000     -           2021 Deferred to 2021.  RFP currently in 
development

3-600-33580 Community Services Recreation Recreation Soccer Complex
Soccer Complex-Wood Bridges 
Replacements - Project #10 Comm 
Services

17,600           -                 -                     17,600           2020 -           17,600     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-600-33581 Community Services Parks Parks Skateboard Park Skateboard Park Parking Lot - Project 
#15 Comm Services 4,000             -                 -                     4,000             2020 -           4,000       -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

0-670-81310 Community Services Marina Marina Sugarloaf Marina
Business Plan Study - Project #6 Comm 
Services-RFP to provide Business Case 
for Marina (Council Request)

65,000           -                 -                     65,000           2020 -           65,000     -           -           -           2021
RFP issued and contract awarded. 
Estimated completion date is now February 
2021

0-682-81730 Community Services Recreation Recreation Other Special Events
150th Anniversary Celebration - Project 
#7 Comm Services-Region Grant for July 
27th Event (Council Request)

10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 -           2,500       -           -           7,500       2021 Deferred to 2021

3-670-33568 Community Services Marina Marina Marina Capital 
Expenditure

Replacement of Dock #6 - Project #36 
Comm Services 250,000         -                 -                     250,000         2020 -           250,000   -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021.  Business Plan in 

Development

3-655-33135 Community Services Cemetery Cemetery Cemeteries Overholt Cemetery Expansion - Project 
#30 Comm Services 80,330           -                 -                     80,330           2020 -           80,330     -           -           -           2021 In progress. Working with realtor to submit 

offer of purchase

3-645-33133 Community Services Administration Facilities Roselawn Centre Replace the Public Annoucement (PA) 
Speaker System 8,500             -                 -                     8,500             2019 -           8,500       -           -           -           2021 Pending negotiation with Showboat

3-400-34553 Fire  Fire Facilities Fire Hall Project F2020-01 (Facility repairs-
roof/bay floors/lighting/walls and paint 67,500           -                 -                     67,500           2020 30,568     36,932     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-400-34553 Fire  Fire Facilities Fire Hall Remote monitoring system for the Stand-
by generator and sewage pumps 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2019 -           5,000       -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-600-33123 Community Services Recreation Facilities Bethel Community 
Cente

Project F2020-09 install outside security 
lights/accessibility items/flooring -                 -                 3,500             3,500             2020 -           -           -           -           -           2021

Split project - Accessibility portion to be 
completed in 2021 (see projects deferred 
above in section to be completed in 2020)

140



3-600-33123 Community Services Recreation Facilities Bethel Community 
Cente

Furnace replacement & hazardous 
material removal in area-2020/2021 16,000           -                 -                     16,000           2020 16,000     -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-600-33584 Community Services Recreation Facilities Sherkston Community 
Centre

Sherkston Community Centre - Roof 
Repairs, new flashing-leaking into the 
attic

12,000           -                 -                     12,000           2016 -           12,000     -           -           -           2021 Roof repair done for $1,200 to stop leak.  
Monitoring

3-600-33584 Community Services Recreation Facilities Sherkston Community 
Centre

Sherkston community Centre - remove 
chimney & fix roof/new hot water 
tank/replace sewer vent pipe

7,500             -                 -                     7,500             2019 -           7,500       -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-500-33126 Public Works Engineering Engineering Roadway 
Improvements

Elm St & Elgin St Intersection 
Improvements - Project ENG 2020-07 
(Resolve safety issues with the 
intersection)

50,000           -                 -                     50,000           2020 -           50,000     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-500-33126 Public Works Engineering Engineering Roadway 
Improvements

Lake End Access Gates - Project ENG 
2020-08 (Install lockable gates at lake 
end roads)

22,500           -                 -                     22,500           2020 -           22,500     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

0-540-74510 Community Services Operations/Parks Engineering  Public Works 
General Admin

Urban Forest Management Plan & Parks 
Tree Inventory Study - Project OPS-12 & 
Project #8 Comm Services

85,000           -                 -                     85,000           2020 85,000     -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-600-33584 Community Services Recreation Facilities Sherkston Community 
Centre

Sherkston community Centre - 
Sewer/Septic system work for 
compliance

47,800           -                 -                     47,800           2020 -           47,800     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-500-33129 Public Works Operations Engineering Roadway 
Construction

Crack Sealing Operations - fund 
operating cost 0-500-73500 33,000           -                 -                     33,000           2020 33,000     -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-540-33173 Public Works Engineering Engineering Downtown BIA Comm 
Improve Plan

Downtown CIP-Phase 1 Clarence 
St/West St to Catharine St 2,062,422      -                 -                     2,062,422      2019-2021 -           ######## -           200,000   418,760   2021

Multi year project.  Moving towards tender 
ready for design with conceptuals which 
can also facility grant application if 
required.  Plan to issue tender after asset 
condition work completed (to be proposed 
in 2021 capital budget)

3-800-34003 Museum Museum Museum Exhibits Exhibit Cases 5,000             -                 -                     5,000             2020 5,000       -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-900-33150 Planning & Development Planning Information TechnologEquipment 
Replacement Plotter for second floor 10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 10,000     -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

3-310-33119 Corporate Services Administration Administration Modernization Project Customer Service Initiative and 
Renovations -                 -                 796,467         796,467         2019 -           -           -           -           -           2021

The City then received two grants for 
711,467 and 85,000 to cover updates to the 
first floor, technology upgrades and an 
opportunity review for potential efficiencies 
at the City.  

3-150-35110 Economic Development Economic Develo Economic DevelopmenCruise 
Destination/Tourism

Tourism Strategy and Cruise Destination 
Business Case (Council Reported) 200,000         -                 (28,866)          171,134         2020 -           200,000   -           -           -           2021 Funding received through TIAO / Niagara 

South provided completed in 2020

3-160-35129 Economic Development Economic Develo Facilities Industrial Park Parcel 
Sale

Industrial Land clearing - Invertose Drive 
23, over 3 years-$20,000/year 60,000           -                 -                     60,000           2017-2019 -           60,000     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

0-155-71210 Economic Development Economic Develo EDO Corporate 
Administration

Economic Development 
Strategy/Research 30,000           -                 -                     30,000           2020 30,000     -           -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

0-155-71210 Economic Development Economic Develo Economic DevelopmenCorporate 
Administration New Tourism Branding 10,000           -                 -                     10,000           2020 -           10,000     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

0-155-71210 Community Services / 
Public Works Parks / Operation Parks / Operations Corporate 

Administration

Active Transportation Masterplan - Safer 
roads and trails for cyclists and walkers-
Committee recommended

50,000           -                 -                     50,000           2020 -           50,000     -           -           -           2021 Deferred to 2021

 
3,259,152      -                 771,101         4,030,253      209,568   ######## -           250,000   426,260   

Deferred Capital Projects (Approved by Council)

3-600-33564 Community Services Parks Parks  P & R Park 
Expenditures

Parks-replace 500 feet of Panel Fence-
event use - Project #20 Comm Services 4,500             4,500-             -                     -                 2020 4,500       -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

3-600-33573 Community Services Parks Financial Services Nickel Beach 
Improvements

Capital Reserve Fund - Annual 
Allocation to capital reserve 15,000           15,000-           -                     -                 2020 15,000     -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.  

3-600-33582 Community Services Parks Parks HH Knoll Park HH Knoll Park-Enhancement to Flower 
Carpet Bed - Project #19 Comm Services 4,500             4,500-             -                     -                 2020 4,500       -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

141



3-600-33582 Community Services Parks Parks HH Knoll Park HH Knoll Park-Waterfront Landscaping 
Project - Project #31 Comm Services 3,500             3,500-             -                     -                 2020 3,500       -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

3-640-33591 Community Services Parks Parks  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC-Landscape Improvements 
(Councillor Request) - Project #22 Comm 
Services

20,000           20,000-           -                     -                 2020 20,000     -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

3-640-33591 Community Services Parks Parks  Vale Centre 
Upgrades

VHWC-Berm Headwall housing Opening 
Stone (Councillor Request) - Project #23 
Comm Services

20,000           20,000-           -                     -                 2020 20,000     -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

3-680-33594 Community Services Parks Parks Canal days
West St Electrical Infrastructure for 
Canal Days - fund over 3 years 
2019/2020/2021

5,000             5,000-             -                     -                 2019-2021 5,000       -           -           -           -           2021

Deferred to 2021 budget for Council 
approval. Funds reallocated to concrete 
floor resurfacing project at VHWC. See 
Report 2020-81.

72,500           72,500-           -                     -                 72,500     -           -           -           -           

Sub-total 14,741,581    12,500-           409,478         15,138,559    ######## ######## -           965,000   ########

Transfer to Capital Reserve (Related to Projects Under Budget) 193,898-   205,591-   -           -           -           
New Grant Funding (Incremental to Capital Budget) -           -           -           -           796,467   

193,898-   205,591-   -           -           796,467   

Total 14,741,581    12,500-           409,478         15,138,559    ######## ######## -           965,000   ########

142



143



144



145



146



147



148



 
   

   Planning and Development Department 
   By-law Enforcement Division  

 
Report Number:  2020-106 Date:  August 24, 2020 
 
Subject: Fence Variance – 128 McCain Street 
 
1) PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to present Council with a fence variance request from Rachel 
McPherson of 128 McCain Street. 

2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, PRACTICES 

It is Council Policy to review any variance requests for fences and decide on each case 
based on the information presented. The applicant’s property is located at the corner of 
McCain Street and Steele Street. The front entry to the dwelling is on McCain and the 
fence is located in the exterior side yard and rear yard adjacent to a neighbouring 
driveway. 

3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS 
 
The current Fence By-law 5510/107/10, Section 3.3.2, establishes fence heights of 2 m 
(6.56 ft) above the effective ground level in any rear or side yards, However, if the rear 
yard of one property abuts the front yard of the adjacent property, then the exception is 
applied. 
“3.3 Fence Heights in Residential Zones 
 

3.3.1 No person shall construct or permit to be constructed or maintained within 
4.5 metres of the street line in front yard: or within the required front yard if it is 
less than 4.5 metres. 

 
(i) a fence of closed construction of a height greater than 1.0 metre above 

effective ground level; or 
 
(ii) a fence of open construction of a height greater than 1.25 metres above 

effective ground level. 
 

Where a building or a part of a building is closer to the front lot line than 4.5 
metres, this distance shall be known as the Required front yard. 

 
3.3.2 Except as otherwise provided in this By-law, no person shall construct or 
permit to be constructed or maintained any fence of a height greater than 2.0 
metres above the effective ground level in any rear and /or side yards from the 
rear lot line to the front setback line as illustrated in Schedule “A” to this By-law. 

 
EXCEPTION – When the rear yard of one property abuts the front yard of an 
adjoining property and the safety of passing pedestrians from vehicular 
movement may be affected by obstructed views, no person shall construct or 

149



Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No.: 2020-106       
Page 2 of 4 

 
 
 

permit to be constructed or maintained within 4.5 metres from a driveway of an 
adjoining lot: 
 
(i) a fence of closed construction that exceeds 1 metre in height above affective 

ground level,  
  

or 
  
(ii) a fence of open construction that exceeds 1.25 metres in height above 

effective ground level.” 
 
 
The views of the fence since 2007 have changed from compliance with the by-law to 
non-compliance. 
2007 
 

2009 

 
2012 

 

 
2014 

150



Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No.: 2020-106       
Page 3 of 4 

 
 
 

2018 
 

 
 
 
 

2020 
 

 
The existing condition of the fence and hedgerow at this location are as follows: 
 
 Hedgerow 2m from property line. 
 Hedgerow and fence back to back greater than 1m of closed construction.  
 Required lowered fence/hedge is 1m from property line to a distance of 4.5m. 
 
The existing conditions of this location on Steele Street are as follows: 
 
 This is a 9m wide highway. 
 There is prohibited parking on the east side of the highway, between Killaly Street West 

and Main Street West. 
 This is a residential area. 
 The speed limit on Steele Street is 50 km/hr. 
 This is a primary road. 
 This highway is the main access used by ambulance, fire and police to attend the 

urgent care centre and Lake Erie. 
 

The By-law Enforcement Division reviewed the area and spoke with the homeowner and 
the adjacent homeowner. After careful review, the By-law Enforcement Division are not 
in favour of and do not recommend allowing the variance for 128 McCain Street. Staff 
recommend that the fence and hedge row be brought into compliance. 

4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  

a) Do Nothing  

This section is not applicable. 

b) Other Options  

This section is not applicable. 

151



Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division, Report No.: 2020-106       
Page 4 of 4 

 
 
 

 

5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES 

This section is not applicable. 

6)  ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A – Fence variance application form and attachments 
 
7) RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Planning and Development Department, By-law Enforcement Division, Report 2020-
106, Subject: Fence Variance – 128 McCain Street, be received for information; and 
 
That the fence variance request for 128 McCain Street not be approved, and that the 
property be brought into compliance with the Fence By-law. 

8) SIGNATURES 
 
Prepared on August 4, 2020 by:  Reviewed by: 

 

  
Reviewed and respectfully submitted by:  
 
 
 
 

 

C. Scott Luey  
Chief Administrative Officer  

 

152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



 
Engineering and Operations Department 

Engineering Division 
 

 
Report Number: 2020-109 Date: August 24, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: REVISED – Request for Traffic Safety Review - Intersection of Bell Street 
and Fares Street 
 
1) PURPOSE: 
 
At the meeting on August 10, 2020, Council referred Report 2020-102 to the Engineering 
Department to provide further alternatives for safety recommendations at the intersection 
of Bell Street and Fares Street. 
 
2) HISTORY, BACKGROUND, COUNCIL POLICY, AND PRACTICES: 
 
Bell Street is a collector road owned by the City of Port Colborne that runs east-west from 
Welland Street to James Street. There are sidewalks and on-street parking on both sides 
of the street for the entire length, with the exception of the final block on the east end, 
between Mercury Avenue and James Street. Bell Street has stop signs where it intersects 
with McRae Avenue, Elizabeth Street, and Mercury Avenue, as well as both termination 
points. The speed limit on Bell Street is 40 km/h at the intersection with Fares Street. 
 
Fares Street is a collector road owned by the City of Port Colborne that runs north-south 
from Lake Road to Killaly Street East. There are sidewalks and on-street parking on both 
sides of the street for the entire length, with the exception of the final block on the south 
end, between Rodney Street and Lake Road. Fares Street has stop signs where it 
intersects with Nickel Street, Durham Street, and Bell Street, as well as both termination 
points. The speed limit on Fares Street is 50 km/h at the intersection with Bell Street. 
 
In the past, this intersection had a four-way beacon hanging in the center with amber 
flashing lights facing east-west towards Bell Street traffic and red flashing lights facing 
north-south towards Fares Street traffic. In 2013, Report 2013-42 was submitted to 
Council seeking direction for the continued use of the overhead beacon. Council’s 
decision at the time was to remove the four-way beacon and replace it with new red 
flashing lights mounted on the stop signs facing north and south towards Fares Street 
traffic. Those red flashing lights are still in use today.  
 
Collision reports provided by the Niagara Regional Police Service (NRP) reveal that nine 
collisions have occurred at this intersection within the last five years, accounting for 0.55% 
of overall collisions reported throughout the city. Four of these collisions were the result 
of disobeying the stop sign on Fares Street while the remaining five were for failing to 
yield to oncoming traffic. 
 
3) STAFF COMMENTS AND DISCUSSIONS: 
 
Engineering staff have taken several additional suggestions from Council members and 
reassessed the intersection at Bell Street and Fares Street. Those suggestions include 
all-way stop control, flashing amber beacons as a cautionary warning facing Bell Street 

161



 
Engineering and Operations Department, Engineering Division, Report No.: 2020-109 Page 2 of 4 
 
 

traffic, and a sign warning drivers they are approaching a high-collision intersection. 
These are in addition to staff’s original suggestions of installing “bump-out” curbs, 
relocating the Canada Post mailbox, and extending the No Parking limit further from the 
intersection on all sides. 
 
Based on the Ontario Traffic Manual guidelines, all-way stop control is not warranted nor 
recommended at this intersection. It should be noted to Council that the City may have 
some liability in collisions that occur at intersections with unwarranted stop control. The 
following are relevant reasons for not installing all-way stop control: 
 

 where the protection of pedestrians is a prime concern, this concern should be 
addressed by other means 

 as a speed control device 
 as a means of deterring the movement of through traffic in a residential area 

 
Under these provincial guidelines, with respect to all-way stop control, there is 
consideration given to intersections with high traffic volume or high collision rates. Based 
on the available information, the intersection of Bell Street and Fares Street does not 
meet the threshold for either consideration. For high traffic volume, the minimum total 
traffic passing through an intersection in one hour must exceed 350 vehicles. Based on 
a traffic count performed in August of 2019, the total number of vehicles passing through 
the intersection never exceeded more than 133 in one hour. For high collision rate, there 
must be a minimum of four reported collisions per year over a period of three years. Only 
collisions that could be relieved by an all-way stop may be considered (i.e., right angle 
and turning type collisions). Based on the information provided by the NRP, only five 
collisions over the last five years would qualify to be counted for this consideration, far 
below the threshold. 
 
Staff have completed a concept design for the construction of “bump-out” curbs, attached 
as Appendix A. Rebuilding the intersection with this design would result in southbound 
and northbound drivers on Fares Street being able to safely stop further into the 
intersection and improve sight lines. Vehicles headed northbound would be approximately 
2.0 metres further north, and vehicles headed southbound would be approximately 3.0 
metres further south. While this would still not result in ideal sight lines, it would help to 
address the collisions resulting from unsafe turns, which account for a little over half of 
the reported collisions. The estimated cost for this work is $140,000. Due to the relatively 
low number of reported collisions, the cost to implement this improvement is 
comparatively quite high. Due to this fact, the Engineering Department does not 
recommend pursuing this option at this time. 
 
A new assessment of the existing signage surrounding the intersection was performed 
and staff have completed a proposed plan to reconfigure this signage to better engage 
drivers approaching from all directions. This plan is attached as Appendix B. Among the 
recommendations are the addition of an amber flashing light facing eastbound traffic on 
Bell Street (an amber light already exists facing westbound traffic), amber lights mounted 
on “Stop Ahead” signs for southbound and northbound traffic on Fares Street, replacing 
the standard “Stop” signs with larger “Stop” signs (maintaining the red lights mounted 
above), relocating the Canada Post mailbox further north, and expanding the “No Parking” 

162



 
Engineering and Operations Department, Engineering Division, Report No.: 2020-109 Page 3 of 4 
 
 

limits further away from the intersection. Estimated cost to implement this plan is $15,000. 
 
4) OPTIONS AND FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
a) Do nothing 

 
Council could decide to leave the intersection in its current state. 
 

b) Reconfigure signage as proposed in Appendix B (Recommended) 
 
Council could direct staff to install three new amber lights, increase the size of the 
“Stop” signs, add new “Intersection Ahead” and “Stop Ahead” signs, and relocate 
the Canada Post mailbox, with the estimated $15,000 cost to be funded from existing 
roads maintenance accounts, and to work with the By-law Enforcement Division to 
implement prohibited parking limits further from the intersection. 
 

c) Reconstruct the intersection with “bump-out” curbs as proposed in Appendix 
A 
 
Council could direct staff to prepare a request in the 2021 capital budget for an 
estimated $140,000 to proceed with rebuilding the intersection incorporating “bump-
out” style curbs. 

 
5) COMPLIANCE WITH STRATEGIC PLAN INITIATIVES: 
 
This section is not applicable. 
 
6) ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix A - Bump-out Curb Design 
Appendix B - Proposed Signage 
 
7) RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That Council direct staff to install three new amber lights, increase the size of the “Stop” 
signs, add new “Intersection Ahead” and “Stop Ahead” signs, and relocate the Canada 
Post mailbox, with the estimated $15,000 cost to be funded from existing roads 
maintenance accounts, and to work with the By-law Department to implement prohibited 
parking limits further from the intersection. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

163



 
Engineering and Operations Department, Engineering Division, Report No.: 2020-109 Page 4 of 4 
 
 

8) SIGNATURES: 
 
Prepared on August 14, 2020, by: Reviewed by: 
 
 
 

 
Brian Kostuk Steve Shypowskyj 
Development & Asset Inventory 
Supervisor 

Manager of Projects & Design 
 

  
Reviewed by: Reviewed and Respectfully Submitted by: 

 

 
 
 

Chris Lee Bryan Boles 
Director of Engineering & Operations 
 

Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer 

Reviewed and Respectfully Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 

 

Scott Luey  
Chief Administrative Officer  

 

164



PROP. 1.5m WIDE CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PER OPSD 310.010, WITH 100mm GRANULAR

'A' AND 100mm CONCRETE, 150mm

CONCRETE ACROSS DRIVEWAYS

(TYP.)

PROP. 100mm TOPSOIL & SOD

(TYP.)

R

1

0

.

0

0

m

3
.
5
0
m

3
.
5
0
m

7
.
0
0
m

PROP. TACTILE WARNING PLATE AS

PER OPSD 310.039

(TYP.)

R

1

0

.

0

0

m

R

1

0

.

0

0

m

R

1

0

.

0

0

m

3.50m

3.50m

7.00m

PROP. CONCRETE BOULEVARD,

WITH 100mm GRANULAR 'A' AND

100mm CONCRETE

(TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO TIE IN PROP. 1.5m

SIDEWALK INTO EX. SIDEWALK

(TYP.)

EX. SIDEWALK TO BE REMOVED

TO SUIT PROP. WORKS

CB

CB

CB

CB

REMOVE & RELOCATE EX. CB

(TYP. OF 4)

TIE IN PROP CURB & GUTTER TO

EX CURB & GUTTER

(TYP)

SIGN

SIGN

3
.
0

m

2
.
0

m

Appendix A 0

BELL STREET @ FARES STREET

BUMP OUT CURBS CONCEPT

THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE

PRELIMINARY NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

Report 2020-109
Appendix A

165

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INIT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REV.

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONSULTANT FILE No.



HP
HP

HP
HP HP

HP

HP
HP

HP
HP

HP

HP

HP

HP
HP

HP

HP

HP

FA
R

ES
 S

TR
EE

T

BELL STREET

EXISTING "NO PARKING" SIGN
EXISTING MAIL BOX LOCATION

EXISTING "STOP" SIGN WITH RED
BEACON, TO BE ENLARGED

EXISTING "40 km/hr" SIGN

EXISTING X-WALK
AHEAD SIGN

EXISTING "STOP" SIGN WITH
RED BEACON, TO BE ENLARGED

EXISTING X-WALK SIGN

EXISTING "NO PARKING" SIGN

EXISTING
"40 km/h" SIGN

NEW MAIL BOX LOCATION

EXISTING "STOP SIGN
AHEAD" SIGN ON POLE

ADD NEW AMBER BEACON

EXISTING "FIRE TRUCK
ZONE" SIGN ON POLE
TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING "PEDESTRIAN
CROSSING" SIGN ON POLE
TO BE MOVED TO NEXT
POLE NORTH

EXISTING
FLASHING AMBER

BEACON WITH
"INTERSECTION

AHEAD" SIGN

EXISTING X-WALK
AHEAD SIGN

EXISTING X-WALK SIGN

NEW "NO PARKING"
SIGN LOCATION

NEW "NO PARKING"
SIGN LOCATION

NEW FLASHING
AMBER BEACON
WITH "INTERSECTION
AHEAD" SIGN

NEW "STOP SIGN AHEAD"
SIGN WITH AMBER BEACON

SCHEDULE B

THE CITY OF PORT COLBORNE

PROPOSED SIGNAGE

BELL AND FARES STREET INTERSECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2020-08-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



0

© 2018 – The Regional Municipality of Niagara and its suppliers.  All Rights Reserved.  Produced (in part) under license from: © 2018 OF THE QUEEN’S PRINTER FOR ONTARIO. ALL RIGHTS 

RESERVED; © Teranet Enterprises Inc. and its suppliers.  All rights reserved.  Not a plan of survey; 2006 Air Photos courtesy of First Base Solutions Inc.; 1934 Air Photos courtesy of Brock University.

0.1 Kilometers0.1 Notes

Area's identified are approximations. 

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate, current, or otherwise reliable. This 

map is not to be used for navigation.

0.06

Schedule "A" - Big Pappi's

209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298


	Regular Council Meeting Agenda
	Council Items
	Presentation Re: PC Innovation, Creativity & Culinary Incubator
	Item 1
	Item 2
	Item 3
	Item 4
	Item 5
	Item 6
	Item 7
	Item 8
	Item 9
	Item 10
	Item 11
	Item 12
	Item 13
	Item 14
	By-laws
	Regular Council Meeting 20-20 Minutes
	Environmental Advisory Committee Minutes
	Grant Policy Committee Minutes



